
People & Places Board
Agenda

www.local.gov.uk

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Wednesday, 10 June 2020 
1.00 pm 
 
 
 
 
 

Online Meeting, via Zoom. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
People & Places Board 
 

10 June 2020 

 
There will be a remote meeting of the People and Places at 1.00 pm on Wednesday, 10 June 2020. 
 
Attendance: 
Member Services will read out a register at the start of the meeting. 
 
Apologies: 
Please notify your political group office (see contact telephone numbers below) if you are unable to 
attend this meeting. 
 
Conservative:  020 7664 3223  email: lgaconservatives@local.gov.uk 
Labour:   020 7664 3263  email: Martha.Lauchlan@local.gov.uk 
Liberal Democrat:  020 7664 3235  email: libdem@local.gov.uk 
Independent:  020 7664 3224  email: independent.grouplga@local.gov.uk 
 
LGA Contact: 
Thomas French, Member Services Officer. 
 
Carers’ Allowance 
As part of the LGA Members’ Allowances Scheme a Carer’s Allowance of £9.00 per hour or £10.55 
if receiving London living wage is available to cover the cost of dependants (i.e. children, elderly 
people or people with disabilities) incurred as a result of attending this meeting. 

mailto:independent.grouplga@local.gov.uk


 

 

 

People & Places Board – Membership 2019/2020 
 
 
Councillor Authority 

  
Conservative ( 12)  
Cllr Kevin Bentley (Chairman) Essex County Council 

Cllr Morris Bright MBE (Vice 
Chairman) 

Hertsmere Borough Council 

Cllr Rachel Bailey Cheshire East Council 
Cllr Marc Bayliss Worcester City Council 

Cllr Hilary Carrick Cumbria County Council 
Cllr Neil Clarke MBE Rushcliffe Borough Council 

Cllr Keith Glazier East Sussex County Council 
Cllr Diane Marsh Gravesham Borough Council 

Cllr Eddie Reeves Oxfordshire County Council 
Cllr Martin Tett Buckinghamshire County Council 

Cllr Bradley Thomas Wychavon District Council 
Cllr Rob Waltham MBE North Lincolnshire Council 

  
Substitutes  

Cllr Jane Murphy South Oxfordshire District Council 
Cllr Christian Wakeford Pendle Borough Council 

Cllr Barry Wood Cherwell District Council 
  
Labour ( 5)  
Cllr Simon Henig CBE (Vice-
Chair) 

Durham County Council 

Cllr Sue Woodward Staffordshire County Council 
Cllr Leigh Redman Somerset County Council 

Cllr Kyle Robinson Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council 
Cllr Doina Cornell Stroud District Council 

  
Substitutes  

Cllr Alan Waters Norwich City Council 
Cllr Peter Moss Preston City Council 

Cllr Rosanne Kirk Lincoln City Council 
  
Liberal Democrat ( 2)  
Cllr Heather Kidd (Deputy Chair) Shropshire Council 

Cllr Sarah Osborne East Sussex County Council 

  

Substitutes  
Cllr Stan Collins South Lakeland District Council 

Cllr Allan Knox Ribble Valley Borough Council 
  
Independent ( 2)  
Cllr Bob Jennings (Deputy Chair) Epping Forest District Council 
Cllr Helen Grant Richmondshire District Council 

  
Substitutes  

Cllr Kevin Etheridge Caerphilly County Borough Council 



 

 

 

Agenda 
 

People & Places Board 
 
Wednesday 10 June 2020 
 
1.00 pm 
 
Online via Zoom. 
 

 
 

 Item Page  
 

1.   Welcome, introductions and declarations of interest 
 

  

2.   Economic Growth 
 

  

3.   Subnational Bodies 
 

1 - 2  

4.   County/District Collaboration 
 

3 - 30  

5.   Past the Peak 
 

31 - 32  

a) Exploring and forecasting the economic impact of 
COVID19 on NUTS2 regions in England and 
Wales 

 

33 - 92  

6.   Note of last People & Places Board meeting 
 

93 - 96  

 CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS  Page  

    

7.   Employment and skills recovery 
 

97 - 106  

8.   People and Places Board Update Paper 
 

107 - 116  

9.   End of year report 
 

117 - 122  

 
 
 Date of Next Meeting: Tuesday, 15 September 2020, 1.00 pm, TBC. 
 



 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Subnational Bodies 

Purpose of report 

For discussion. 

Summary 

Members will receive a presentation by Metro Dynamics on the findings of research 

commissioned by the LGA to explore the lessons learned from established and emerging 

subnational bodies.  

 

 

Contact officer:  Philip Clifford 

Position:   Senior Adviser 

Phone no:   07909 898327  

Email:    Philip.Clifford@local.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Recommendation 
 
Members are asked to: 
 

1. Consider the background presentation in advance of a more detailed discussion at 
the Board with representatives from Metro Dynamics. 

 
 
Action  
 
Officers to take on board comments and steer Metro Dynamics as appropriate. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Subnational Bodies 

Background 
 
1. Building on the LGA’s work to support the development of successful local industrial 

strategies and strengthen England’s trade and investment landscape, and with a view to 
influencing the English Devolution White Paper, a research commission was issued in 
early February 2020 in order to better understand the functions and future of both 
established and emerging sub-national bodies. 
 

2. Following an open procurement process Metro Dynamics were awarded the contract and, 
over the following months, carried out a wide range of interviews and desktop research 
relating to eight subnational bodies: the Northern Powerhouse (NP11 and Transport for 
the North); the Midlands Engine; Midlands Connect; Western Gateway; the Oxford-
Cambridge Arc; the Great South West Partnership; and, Transport for the South East. 
 

3. The report is now in the early stages of being drafted and will: set out the evolution of 
subnational bodies in England; provide detailed case studies of established and emerging 
subnational bodies; consider the lessons learned from these organisations; and, look at 
potential implications within the context of the forthcoming devolution white paper. 
 

4. As part of the process of finalising this research representatives from Metro Dynamics will 
attend the board and present an overview of key findings alongside a number of questions 
for the Board to consider. 
 

5. In advance of the meeting a slide pack, drawing on the desktop research and setting out 
the scope and policy context of the project will be sent to members in the dispatch. 

 
Next Steps 

 
6. Following discussion at the People and Places Board, a similar presentation will be given 

to the City Regions Board and the comments from both groups will incorporated into the 
draft report. This project will be used to inform the development of the LGA’s position 
regarding future devolution and any future work relating to changes in the functions or 
scope of sub-national bodies. 

Page 2

Agenda Item 3

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

 

District and county council collaboration 

Final Report 

Purpose of report 

For discussion. 

Summary 

This paper appends the Shared Intelligence report on district and county council collaboration 

for member discussion.   

 

 

Contact officer:  Daniel Shamplin-Hall 

Position:   Adviser 

Phone no:   0207 664 3314  

Email:    Daniel.Shamplin-Hall@local.gov.uk 

 

 

  

Recommendations 
 
Members are asked to: 
 

1. Note the report has been written with the support and oversight of the District 

Councils’ Network and County Councils Network. 

2. Reflect on the findings of report and the case studies it outlines 

Action  
 
Officers to take on board comments from members. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

District and county council collaboration 

Final Report 

Background 
 
1. At the September Board, members asked for a piece of work be undertaken to explore the 

opportunities and future direction of collaboration between district and county councils. 
Shared Intelligence were commissioned to undertake the research and updated members 
on their progress at the last Board. The work has now been completed, and this paper 
appends (Appendix A) the final report which has been approved by lead members, for 
the discussion at the Board.  
 

2. At members’ request, both the County Council Network and District Councils’ Network 
have been involved in the project from the start, helping steer the project’s focus and select 
the case studies for inclusion. The work culminated in a workshop bringing together 
members of the People and Places Board, district and county representatives and officers 
from the CCN and DCN to comment on and “sense check” the research’s findings. Both 
CCN and DCN have also commented on and approved the final report presented to 
members. 
 

3. As members will also be aware, the report was commissioned and written before the 
Covid-19 emergency. However, within the limits of the original research specification, its 
introduction has been reframed to reflect current circumstances. 

 
The drivers of collaboration 

 
4. To inform the research Shared Intelligence conducted over 30 non-attributable and 

attributable interviews with district and county councils across the country.  The research 
outlines seven drivers of collaboration: 
 
4.1. People and trust. The importance of high levels of trust between political and 

managerial leaders  
 

4.2. Formal structures. Formal structures such as leaders’ groups, joint committees, 
growth boards, collaboration agreements and district deals are important in providing 
a robust framework for collaboration and collective decision-making.  

 

4.3. Joint posts and double hatting. Joint posts and more extensive joint officer 
arrangements deliver benefits for the councils directly involved and wider 
district/county relationships.  

 

4.4. One size does not always fit all. Whilst county-wide collaboration is an important 
part of leveraging economies of scale across place there is also value in exploring 
more granular partnerships at project, district, or groups of district level to seize 
opportunities unique to certain parts of a county. 

 

Page 4

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

4.5. A mobilising topic or initiative. In many places the pursuit of a particular challenge, 
such as economic and housing growth or the climate emergency has proved to be a 
powerful mobilising force. 

4.6. A shared understanding of what is on the table. A shared understanding between 
leaders of what is and is not on the table for discussion is a prerequisite for sustained 
collaboration, giving clearly defined boundaries.  
 

4.7. This is difficult. The historically hierarchical nature of government in England can 
place both counties and districts in a particular mindset about how they relate to one 
another. This in turn creates barriers to collaboration from the perspective of both 
types of council. 
 

5. The report’s five detailed case studies focus on: 
 
 

Topic County District  

Inclusive Growth  Suffolk Babergh and Mid Suffolk 

The Climate Emergency Devon Mid-Devon 

Non-structural Reform Derbyshire High Peak 

Planning and Infrastructure Kent Canterbury 

Joint Officer Posts Interviews across several counties and districts 

 
The Final Output 
 
6. The report will be published on the LGA’s website once all case studies have been formally 

signed off by local areas. It will be shared widely through the LGA, DCN and CCN’s 
communications channels. 

 
Next steps 
 
7. Members are asked to: 
 

7.1. Note the report has been written with the support and oversight of the District 
Councils’ Network and County Councils Network. 
 

7.2. Reflect on the findings of report and the case studies it details 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Appendix A The drivers of collaboration 

Working across local government for the benefit of communities 

Executive Summary 
Delivering an effective response to the coronavirus means that collaboration between county 

and district councils is more important than ever. This was the key message in an article in 

the Local Government Chronicle written by the chairs of the County Councils Network and 

District Councils Network in March 2020. Cllrs John Fuller OBE and David Williams wrote: 

“One thing is for sure: we stand the best possible chance of success and then recovery by 

working together during this period of national emergency.” 

In this report, which was commissioned well before the first outbreak of coronavirus, we set 

out the results of our research into the factors which drive collaboration between district and 

county councils. Our evidence is drawn from a combination of attributable and non-attributable 

interviews in 12 areas with county and district councils. We have also benefited significantly 

from the support of the LGA’s People and Places Board and contributions from the District 

Councils Network and County Councils Network. 

Seven drivers of collaboration 

Drawing on our research we have identified seven drivers of collaboration between county 

and district councils. They are: 

1. People and trust. The importance of high levels of trust between political and 

managerial leaders was raised by everybody we interviewed. In many places longstanding 

relationships underpin effective collaboration; in others, changes in leadership can create the 

conditions for closer joint working. Even in areas where relationships are good, they require 

continuing time and attention. 

 

2. Formal structures. Formal structures such as leaders’ groups, joint committees, 

growth boards, collaboration agreements and district deals are important in providing a 

robust framework for collaboration and collective decision-making. It is also important to 

create the space and opportunities for informal meetings and real discussion. 

 

3. Joint posts and double hatting. Joint posts and more extensive joint officer 

arrangements deliver benefits for the councils directly involved and wider district/county 

relationships. Members with roles in both types of council can also bring benefits to wider 

collaboration. 

 

4. One size does not always fit all. County-wide collaboration is an important part of 

leveraging economies of scale across place. It can help avoid unnecessary duplication and 

support effective and efficient service delivery. There is also value in exploring whether more 

granular partnerships at project, district, or groups of district level can leverage opportunities 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

unique to certain parts of a county, such as where a particular business type has clustered 

or where there is acute housing need. 

1.  

5. A mobilising topic or initiative. Focusing on outcomes for people, places and 

communities is widely seen as the most powerful driver of collaboration. In many places the 

pursuit of a particular challenge, such as economic and housing growth, the climate 

emergency or the future of high streets has proved to be a powerful mobilising force. 

 

6. A shared understanding of what is on the table. A shared understanding between 

leaders of what is and is not on the table for discussion is a prerequisite for sustained 

collaboration, giving clearly defined boundaries.  

 

7. This is difficult. The historically hierarchical nature of government in England can 

place both counties and districts in a particular mindset about how they relate to one 

another. This in turn creates barriers to collaboration from the perspective of both types of 

council. 

We have identified eight “top tips” to prompt councils to consider the extent to which they are 

mobilising these drivers of collaboration in their area. The top tips are: 

 Always pay attention to the quality of relationships and levels of trust. 

 Do not assume that good relations between leaders and chief executives are 

reflected throughout organisations.  

 Always make space and time for informal conversations.  

 Think about how to make the most of joint member and officer roles between two 

councils.  

 Be clear about what forms of collaboration require a county-wide approach and which 

can be pursued in different ways in different parts of the county. 

 Retain a remorseless focus on outcomes for residents, places and communities.  

 Maintain a shared understanding of what is and is not on the table.  

 Remember that collaboration between district and county councils is difficult, but the 

wellbeing of many people, places and communities depend on it being successful.   

Our case studies 

We have developed five case studies of effective collaboration with a small set of key learning 

points from each. The case studies and learning points are summarised in the table below. 

Derbyshire: Non-structural Reform  Devon: The Climate Emergency 

Seeking maximum benefit from non-

structural reform is a key priority for the 

county and district councils in Derbyshire. A 

joint committee for economic prosperity, 

which also includes Derby City Council, 

provides the formal vehicle for pursuing this 

initiative, but informal conversations are 

The county and district councils in Devon 

have agreed a collaborative response to the 

climate emergency. This builds from a 

foundation of good relationships which has 

survived significant changes in council 

leadership. The approach is not a 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

widely recognised as being equally 

important. 

prescriptive one, enabling activity at both 

strategic and local levels.  

 

 Reduced resources can be a driver 
of collaboration, but an approach which 
focuses primarily on securing savings is 
unlikely to succeed. 

 A joint response to an emergency 
can help to reinforce and embed 
collaborative working. 

 It is inevitable that priorities will vary 
across a county area: collaborative 
arrangements must allow for that. 

 Agreeing a statement of intent gave 
a clear sense of direction for the work on 
the climate emergency. 

 A framework which enabled action 
at different geographical levels enabled the 
councils in Devon to mobilise strategic and 
local delivery capacity while eliminating 
duplication. 

 Being alert to resident awareness, 
interest and expectations was an important 
driver of this collaboration. 

Kent: Planning and Infrastructure Suffolk: Inclusive Economic Growth 

Kent is a large county with a very diverse 

geography and 12 city, district and borough 

councils. There are major growth 

opportunities in the county including 

housing development in Canterbury. There 

is well developed collaboration between the 

councils in Kent on housing, planning and 

infrastructure at a county-wide level and 

involving clusters of districts such as East 

Kent, which includes Canterbury. 

The Suffolk Public Sector Leaders (SPSL) 

group has created conditions for 

collaboration between the councils on a 

range of topics including youth 

unemployment, county lines and inclusive 

growth. Key to the success of the group, 

however, are good relationships and high 

levels of trust between the political and 

managerial leaders in the county. County 

and district leaders see the arrangements in 

Suffolk as a partnership of equals. 

 Collaboration between a county and 
clusters of districts can add real value in a 
large, diverse county with many city, 
borough and district councils. 

 Getting the right working groups in 
place to support collaboration on a topic 
such as housing, planning and 
infrastructures is very important. 

 It is possible to pursue a shared 
vision for a large county while respecting 
the roles and responsibilities of individual 
councils. 

 It is possible to create the conditions 
for effective collaboration following a 
difficult period using a combination of 
appropriate structures, such as the SPSL, 
attention to relationships and trust and a 
focus on outcomes for local people. 

 Engagement of other partners, such 
as police and health, is an important part of 
the process. 
 

Joint posts and officer structures 

There are examples of joint senior posts between a county and a district council and in 

one case a joint officer structure. These are seen as bringing wider benefits to the 

relations across the areas concerned as well as to the pairs of councils involved. 

 Joint posts can deliver benefits to the wider local government system in an area as 
well as to the pair of councils concerned. 

 Constructive challenge is an important feature of effective collaboration. 

  

Page 8

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Introduction 

The final stages of research for this assignment coincided with the introducing of stringent 

social distancing measures to tackle coronavirus. Writing in Local Government Chronicle in 

late March Cllrs John Fuller and David Williams, the chairs of the district and county council 

networks respectively, called on county and district councils to work together closer than ever 

before at a time if national crisis. 

The two leading councillors said that nowhere was collaboration “more important than the 

challenge set by the government to help shield our most clinically vulnerable residents through 

the establishment of community hubs…It is vital that all districts and counties work in tandem 

in a coordinated and consistent way under the auspices of their local resilience forums.” They 

went on to point to the importance of continued collaboration to support the recovery process 

“once we are over the peak.” 

The brief for this assignment, which was commissioned well before the first outbreak of 

coronavirus, was to carry out qualitative research to evidence the opportunities and future 

direction of collaboration between districts and counties in two-tier areas. We have looked in 

particular at the factors which create the conditions for collaboration between the two types of 

councils. 

Our evidence is drawn from a combination of attributable and non-attributable interviews with 

council leaders, chief executives in 12 of the 26 areas in England with county and district 

councils 1 . We have drawn on the attributable interviews to develop case studies of 

collaboration in four areas: Derbyshire, Devon, Kent and Suffolk. We have also described the 

contribution of joint posts in Gloucestershire and North Yorkshire and comprehensive joint 

arrangements in Oxfordshire. 

The following sections of the report: 

 Explore seven themes we have identified as the main drivers of collaboration and identify 

eight “top tips” for effective collaboration; 

 Include a set of conclusions and reflections; 

 Present our case studies including key learning points. 

  

                                                

1 Our methodology is set out in more detail in the annex.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

The drivers of cross-tier collaboration 
It is clear from our research that a number of conditions need to be put in place if collaboration 

between district and county councils is to be effective. They include organisational constructs 

such as leaders’ boards and joint posts. Also important is the existence of a topic around which 

to mobilise, a shared understanding of what is and what is not on the table, and a recognition 

that what may work in one part of a county may not do so in another.  

There is, however, one theme which everyone we interviewed raised: trust and the quality of 

relationships. This is a factor that features in each of our case studies and in all of the other 

examples of collaboration that we have heard about in the course of this research. As one 

council leader said: “Collaboration is good here because there is a genuine sense of mutual 

respect between the county and the districts and we work together successfully on things such 

as the quality of place.” 

In this section we explore seven key themes that have emerged from our interviews. It is 

important to note, however, that while this research is about relations between county and 

district councils many of the themes we have identified are also relevant to other collaborative 

settings including joint working between unitary councils across a wider geographical area and 

the relationship between combined authorities and their constituent councils. The seven 

themes are: 

 People and trust 

 Formal structures 

 Joint posts and “double hatting” 

 One size does not always fit all 

 A mobilising topic or initiative 

 A shared understanding of what is on the table 

 A recognition that this can be difficult. 

People and trust 
The importance of high levels of trust between political and managerial leaders has been 

raised by everybody we interviewed. It applies to relationships between council leaders, 

portfolio holders and between chief executives and senior officers. In many places long 

standing relationships underpin effective collaboration. Changes in leadership roles can create 

the conditions for collaboration but in some places even the prospect of a change in leadership 

may destabilise relationships.  

What good looks like was summed up by two leaders in one of the counties we carried out 

interviews in. The leader of one of the districts said: “It all comes down to personalities and a 

shared understanding of the needs of the place.” The county council leader added: “As long 

as the leaders are talking everything is OK. I know that I can always pick up the phone.” 

History is important in this context. In many of the places we looked at, relations were helped 

by the fact that senior members of one council had represented the same area on the other 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

type of council. In other places, previously poor collaboration was attributed to a history of a 

lack of trust and personal acrimony. 

Several interviewees stressed that, while they are important, good relations at a very senior 

level are not sufficient to ensure effective collaboration. Good relations are needed at all levels: 

between portfolio holders; between frontline councillors; between directors and between 

heads of service. It cannot be assumed that relationships at these levels will be good just 

because the chiefs get on. 

In five of the places in which we carried out interviews an improvement in relationships was 

directly attributed to a change in leader at either district or county level. But our interviewees 

also referred to the fact that for a change in leadership to have a significant impact officers 

must be attuned to the political relationships. As one district leader recalled: “The more positive 

approach from the new county leader was undoubtedly picked up on by officers and reflected 

in their relationships.” A leader from another area said that long standing good relationships 

between officers meant that speedy progress could be made when relations at a political level 

improved following changes in political leadership. 

Finally, in one way or another, every interviewee referred to the fact that good, trusting 

relations must not be taken for granted. Even in areas where relationships are currently strong, 

they require continuing time and attention. 

Top Tips 

 Always pay attention to the quality of relationships and levels of trust. 

 Do not assume that good relations between leaders and chief executives are 
reflected throughout organisations. 

 

Formal structures 
In many areas collaboration between the councils is underpinned by some formal structures. 

Examples include leaders’ groups, joint committees, growth boards, collaboration agreements 

and district deals. It is clear that mechanisms such as these have an important part to play in 

enabling collaboration, but many of our interviewees were keen to stress the importance of 

good, trusting relationships to create the conditions in which structures such as these can be 

effective. 

One council leader explained: “You need both structures and relationships to get you through 

this. The collaboration doesn’t rely solely on relationships, you need a structure to agree action 

particularly in a complex area like this.” A senior officer from the same area added: “Formal 

groups enable regular meetings and conversations.” 

A council leader from another area said that “the collaboration agreement is important, but so 

is talking. We do fall out, but we address things by talking.” A second leader made a similar 

point: “We have a partnership agreement, but the relationship is key. If it’s not there the 

agreement won’t work.” He added: “Formal and informal meetings are important, but there 

must be time for real discussion.”  

Page 11

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

A shared vision was the starting point for one leader: “Sound governance is important for 

collective decision-making. It can be tricky, but less so if you are working towards a joint 

vision.” 

Several interviewees stressed that bodies such as growth boards include other organisations 

such as local enterprise partnerships, the NHS and educational institutions. This highlights the 

fact that while county-district relations are important, this is in the context of increasingly 

important relationships with other partners. One objective for cross-tier collaboration must be 

to ensure that local government in a place is an effective participant and leader in these wider 

partnerships.  

Top Tip 

 Always make space and time for informal conversations.  
 

 

Joint posts and double hatting 
Senior joint posts between the county and a district council exist in two of the areas in which 

we conducted interviews, and in one there is a joint officer structure for the two councils. In all 

three councils, interviewees agreed that relationships of this type benefit both the two councils 

concerned and the wider county/district relationship. Interviewees talked about the way in 

which joint posts at chief executive and director level can ensure that there is a district 

perspective in a county’s corporate management team and a county perspective in meetings 

of district chief executives. 

A significant minority of councillors are members of county, district and, in many cases, town 

and parish councils. One interviewee saw this as “both a blessing and a curse”: helping to 

generate shared understanding of the different perspectives of the two types of council, but in 

some cases making it more difficult to have confidential conversations. It was, however, raised 

as a factor in relations between tiers in seven of the areas in which we conducted interviews. 

Previous political experience in a different council is more consistently reported as a positive 

factor in collaboration. The fact that a current leader was, or in one case still is, a senior district 

or county council member was cited as a driver of good and improving relations by 

interviewees in four areas.  

Top Tip 

 Think about how to make the most of joint member and officer roles between two 
councils. 

 

 

One size does not always fit all 
Many of our interviewees stress that effective collaboration need not involve every district in a 

county area. Indeed, trying to involve every council may well hinder progress in some cases. 

There is often a case for adopting different arrangements in different parts of a county because 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

of the nature of the issues that require attention and the fact that what works in one part of a 

county might not work in another. This can relate to individual districts or, in larger counties, 

to groups of districts within a county. This does not take away from the fact that a county-wide 

framework can reduce unnecessary duplication, particularly for the county, and significant 

benefits can be accrued from county-wide collaboration over services such as waste collection 

and disposal. In these cases, the more consistent the mechanisms, standards and policies 

are, the more efficient and effective the services can be.   

In one county care is taken to distinguish between collaboration at project, district, cluster and 

county-wide levels. In another county a district leader quoted the county leader’s analogy of 

“a big umbrella and little umbrellas” and added: “we can tackle different issues in different 

areas in different ways.” Several interviewees cited examples of places in their areas with 

pressing challenges that require a joined-up approach by the district and county councils and 

other partners. 

Overall, our interviews point to the need for a flexible approach. In one area, for example, we 

heard of a district which has rapidly improving relations with the county. It is an active 

participant in county-wide meetings and has a partnership board with the county. The district 

does not participate with the county in one major county-wide initiative, but it has a bespoke 

relationship with the county that meets its requirements and is highly valued by both councils. 

Top Tip 

 Be clear about what forms of collaboration require a county-wide approach and which 
can be pursued in different ways in different parts of the county. 

 

A mobilising topic or initiative 
The importance of there being a challenge or opportunity around which to mobilise 

collaboration between county and district councils is another common theme from our 

interviews. As a senior officer in one area said: “Shared interests are a real driver of 

collaboration.” 

The topics our interviewees referred to include: LEP and Homes England funding; 

infrastructure and growth; business rate retention; energy; waste; town centres and public 

realm. Housing and land use planning was also raised, both as a mobilising force and, in some 

circumstances, one which can threaten collaboration. 

Emergencies can also drive collaboration. One interviewee quoted the response to the recent 

floods. And it is clear from the joint article in the LGC in March by the chairs of CCN and DCN 

that district and county councils are working closely together in the response to coronavirus 

and its consequences.  

Interviewees also highlighted other pressing public service challenges as a driver of 

collaboration between the tiers. One thing that issues such as climate change, health 

inequalities and inclusive growth all have in common is that action to address them involves 

the full range of council services. Action on issues such as these often requires difficult political 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

choices. As one leader commented: “Safety in numbers can be important politically, as can 

the strength of joint messages.” A number of people warned about the size of the task involved 

in addressing issues such as these: “Do it in small steps, not all at once”, he said. 

Most important of all, however, according to our interviewees is the value of focussing on 

outcomes for people, places and communities rather than structures.  

Asked for his reflections on what drives collaboration between counties and districts one 

leader said: “Focus on people and place rather than structures. Be clear what the outcome is 

and set the direction of travel early on.” Another responded in the same way: “Focus on the 

people of the county and have a shared goal.” 

Significantly in one county in which relations between the county and districts vary 

significantly, the position was attributed to a degree of sector-wide complacency and the 

absence of an issue on which all the councils are focussed. 

Top Tip 

 Retain a remorseless focus on outcomes for residents, places and communities. 
 

 

A shared understanding of what is on the table 
Many interviewees pointed to need to have a shared understanding between leaders of what 

is (and is not) on the table for discussion as a prerequisite for collaboration. In at least once 

place the development of a more collaborative approach between the districts and county was 

driven by an ambition to explore in full, the benefits that can be achieved by non-structural 

local government reform. Interviewees also pointed out, however, that a lack of clarity or 

understanding about each stakeholder’s future ambitions can lead to a lack of trust between 

tiers and a slowing or stalling of collaboration going forward. 

These quotes from two leaders reinforce the point: “The leaders are clear about the 

importance of two-tier collaboration. Rows are about issues, not the principle.” “I said at my 

first leaders meeting that I wouldn’t fire the first shot.” 

 

Top Tip 

 Maintain a shared understanding of what is and is not on the table. 
 

 

This is difficult 
Collaboration in any context can be challenging, but collaboration across two tier areas can 

be particularly challenging. Our interviews suggest that in many cases this comes down to 

perceptions and misperceptions about hierarchy and the comparative size and scale of 

different organisations. Perceptions and misperceptions are held by district and county 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

members and officers. Language and the way organisational structures and planning 

frameworks are drawn reinforce this sense of hierarchy and the anxieties that flow from that. 

Most of our interviewees talked about the prejudices that abound in both types of council and 

can undermine collaboration. The surprise expressed when someone moves from one type of 

council to another. The perceptions of arrogance and remoteness and of insularity and small 

mindedness. The failure to see the strategic and the local as mutually important parts of an 

integrated process. 

Our interviewees were keen that the particular challenges involved in collaboration between 

district and county councils should be explicitly recognised. In terms of what can be done to 

make progress despite them, at least four possible steps emerged from our conversations. 

First, focus remorselessly on communities, people and place. Second, remember that the 

language used can set the tone. Third distinguish between the county as a place, and a 

collection of places, and the county council as an institution. And finally, encourage more 

movement of officers between counties and districts. 

At the end of the day, however, the historically hierarchical nature of government in England 

can place both counties and districts in a particular mindset about how they relate to one 

another. This in turn creates barriers to collaboration from both a top down and a bottom up 

perspective.  It is important to note, however, that similar tensions exist in relations between 

central and local government and are emerging in relations between combined authorities and 

their constituent councils. In short, this is not easy. 

Top Tip 

 Remember that collaboration between district and county councils is difficult, but the 
wellbeing of many people, places and communities depend on it being successful.  

 

 

  

Page 15

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Conclusions and reflections 

The imperative on local government to play a major role in the response to coronavirus 

highlights the importance of the closest possible collaboration between county the district 

councils. So does the local government’s contribution to tackling the climate emergency, 

enabling inclusive growth and reducing health inequalities. Each of these challenges requires 

an unambiguous focus on outcomes for people, places and communities and this research 

shows that maintaining that focus is one of the most powerful drivers of effective joint work 

between counties and districts. 

All collaboration has its challenges, but many of the interviewees that contributed to this 

research felt that collaboration between county and district councils involves a distinctive set 

of challenges. The fact that it is difficult to describe those challenges in a way that does not 

cause offence illustrates the point. In essence, there is something powerful about the way in 

which English political and organisational culture treats hierarchy that makes collaboration in 

this context particularly difficult. This is often compounded by how language is used and heard 

and by perceptions and misperceptions relating to relative size, scale, role and geography. 

Our research has shown, however, that notwithstanding these challenges there are many 

examples of close and effective collaboration between district and county councils that are 

securing high quality outcomes for people, places and communities.  There is no doubt that 

collaboration between councils continues to be important in the 26 parts of the country with 

county and district councils. The need for a truly joint and integrated response to coronavirus 

is a powerful example of that. 

We have identified a set of learning points and top tips from our research which are intended 

to prompt councils to consider whether there is more they can do to foster collaboration with 

their county and/or district partners. Our research has looked specifically at joint work between 

county and district councils, but we are confident that our findings will be of value in other 

settings including collaboration between councils across a wider geographical area and in the 

relationship between combined authorities and their constituent councils. 

Several of the drivers we have identified, most notably the importance of people and trust and 

the need for a mobilising issue or initiative, apply to all forms of collaboration. Others relate 

more directly to the characteristics of the relationship between counties and districts, including, 

for example, the contribution of joint roles, the scope for different arrangements in different 

parts of the county and the importance of being clear about what is and is not on the table.  

If there is one key message from this work it is that, of course, structures matter, but people, 

communities and people matter more. And that’s what drives collaboration. 

 

 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Case studies 

Derbyshire: Non-structural Reform 

Interviewees: Cllr Barry Lewis, Leader and Emma Alexander, Executive Director for 

Commissioning, Communities and Policy, Derbyshire County Council and Cllr Anthony 

McKeown, Leader High Peak Borough Council.  

 

 

 

 

 

Derbyshire has, in the words of County Council Executive Director for Commissioning, 

Communities and Policy Emma Alexander, “sought to focus on people and place rather than 

governance structures ”. A shared commitment to non-structural reform is something which 

Cllr Anthony McKeown, Leader of High Peak District Council says can withstand the 

challenges of the county and borough councils being under different political control. The 

relationship between the two councils is seen as a positive one with many joint projects 

under way. They include increasing collaboration around the climate emergency to more 

strategic working on the future benefits of the HS2. The leaders and senior officers in both 

councils refer to the strength of this relationship and the part it played in the emergency 

planning response around the Toddbrook Reservoir Dam incident in 2019.  

A programme of work on non-structural reform has been led by the Derby and Derbyshire 

Joint Committee for Economic Prosperity. Chaired by county council leader Cllr Barry Lewis, 

the committee brings together leaders and senior officers from Derby City Council, the 

county council and the nine districts and boroughs in Derbyshire. The joint committee’s 

priorities include climate change, skills and employment, thriving communities and economic 

prosperity. The commitment to build relationships and have a shared vision for Derbyshire 

has underpinned its work. Cllr Lewis says that  in order to collaborate effectively, you must 

“set a direction of travel early on”.  

An important driver of collaboration has been the decrease in council resources at both a 

district and county level over the past decade. There has been an increasing push to pool 

resources where it makes sense to do so. However, it is also recognised that collaboration 

with the sole aim of generating savings is not sustainable; in Derbyshire the real driver has 

been a new and deeper relationship between tiers. Both officers and members say that the 

key attributes of successful collaboration are a genuinely people-centred approach seeking 

to achieve better outcomes for the communities the councils serve. 

Seeking maximum benefit from non-structural reform is a key priority for the county and 

district councils in Derbyshire. A joint committee for economic prosperity, which also 

includes Derby City Council, provides the formal vehicle for pursuing this initiative, 

but informal conversations are widely recognised as being equally important. The 

strength of the relationship between Derbyshire County Council and High Peak 

Borough Council was demonstrated by the response to the  Toddbrook Reservoir 

Dam incident. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

This relationship has been achieved through continued conversation and discussion in both 

formal and informal settings at officer and member level. Derbyshire covers a large rural 

area which means that flexible ways of working are needed to ensure that these 

conversations happen even when face-to-face meetings are more difficult.  

A further strength of the relationship in Derbyshire is the acknowledgement that some 

districts and boroughs will inevitably have their own priorities. For example, in the discussion 

of the impact of HS2 in Derbyshire’s many parts of the county are primarily interested in the 

links to Leeds whereas High Peak is more interested in the links with Manchester. 

Differences such as these can be accommodated, says Cllr McKeown, as long as there is a 

shared understanding of “the core areas where there is an agreed priority”.  

There are, of course, challenges to collaboration. One which Derbyshire faced was the initial 

effort to build trust between the county and nine district and borough councils, their officers 

and leaders. The leader of Derbyshire Cllr Lewis noted that getting all these people on board 

was one of the biggest challenges upfront, but it was achieved. The current challenge is the 

uncertainty surrounding the current government’s approach to devolution outside the major 

conurbations and what this means for the current focus on non-structural reform in the 

county.   

 

 

 

 

 

  

Lessons 

 Reduced resources can be a driver of collaboration, but an approach which focuses 

primarily on securing savings is unlikely to succeed. 

 A joint response to an emergency can help to reinforce and embed collaborative 

working. 

 It is inevitable that priorities will vary across a county area: collaborative 

arrangements must allow for that. 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Devon: The Climate Emergency 

Interviewees: Cllr John Hart, leader,  and Phil Norrey, Chief Executive, Devon County 

Council; and  Cllr Bob Deed , leader, and Stephen Walford, Chief Executive, Mid Devon 

District Council. 

 

Responding to the climate emergency is now one of the most important areas for 

collaboration between councils in many parts of the country. In Devon this is being achieved 

through a partnership which includes Devon County Council and all eight districts. This 

collaboration builds on the existing strong and positive relationships between the county and 

districts which has seen joint working on issues from housing delivery to clean growth to 

health and social care. Indeed, the relationships have proved strong enough to weather the 

potential disruption of changes in leadership in all eight Devon districts at the May 2019 

elections.  

The issue of the climate emergency is one which Mid Devon and the County Council both 

agree “transcends political and ideological differences”. The clear statement of intent from 

members that this was a priority has also helped to turn the words of climate emergency 

declarations into action. It is an issue which has been approached with a great degree of 

realism in terms of the scale on which the problem must be tackled. The Chief Executive of 

Mid Devon, Stephen Walford, noted that there was no pretence that Mid Devon District was 

going to solve the climate emergency alone: it had to be a collaborative effort.  

The decision to approach the climate emergency on a Devon-wide footprint was one which 

all partners agreed would allow for a “strategic umbrella” under which to work. This has 

included the county council providing a coordinator and communications team as well as 

using its convening role to bring on board key stakeholders such as the Environment Agency 

and experts from Exeter University.  

The county and districts have all agreed that having an overarching strategic framework on a 

county level does not preclude districts from having their workstreams at a district level. The 

two leaders were at pains to point out that there is no prescription in the agreed framework. 

In fact, in order to sign up to this partnership, all districts have produced their own Carbon 

Plans. Some, such as Mid Devon, have carried out baseline studies, installed PV cells and 

reviewed existing housing and planning policies.  

Joined up working at a strategic level means that work is not being delivered or 

commissioned by the county and all the districts. Collaborating across tiers removes the 

The county and district councils in Devon have agreed a collaborative response to the 

climate emergency. This builds of a foundation of good relationships which has survived 

significant changes in council leadership. The approach is not a prescriptive one, 

enabling activity at both strategic and local levels. It has, however, reduced the scope for 

duplication and enabled an ambitious but realistic approach which matches the high level 

of resident expectation and engagement. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

scope for duplication with different districts and the county taking a lead on different aspects 

of the response. For example, various approaches are being piloted by different councils.  

A Net-Zero Taskforce, which has been charged with developing solutions to be taken to a 

citizens assembly, is one of the formal structures used in the partnership. Other meetings, 

both formal and informal, such as meetings of Devon chief executives and leaders help to 

keep communication and collaboration going across a large geography.  

Information sharing is also a key part of the successful collaboration with a knowledge hub 

for sharing good practice and enabling joint procurement.  

There have been challenges through all of this, but our interviewees reported that the 

partnership has operated smoothly. The scale of the issue is a challenge is its own right as is 

the degree of public interest and the high expectations of many residents. The ability to act 

at a strategic county-wide level and at a district and locality level has enabled local 

government to respond to these high levels of resident engagement and attention. The 

progress that is being made is seen to have helped to rebut scepticism about the value of 

collaborative working between the two types of council in Devon.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Lessons  

 Agreeing a statement of intent gave a clear sense of direction for the work on the 

climate emergency. 

 A framework which enabled action at different geographical levels enabled the 

councils in Devon to mobilise strategic and local delivery capacity while eliminating 

duplication. 

 Being alert to resident awareness, interest and expectations was an important driver 

of this collaboration. 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Kent: Planning and Infrastructure  

Interviewees: Cllr Roger Gough, leader, David Cockburn and Barbara Cooper, senior 

officers, Kent County Council; and Cllr Robert Thomas, leader, and Colin Carmichael, chief 

executive, Canterbury City Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Kent is an area with a longstanding commitment to joint working according to the leader of 

the county council, Cllr Roger Gough. County council director Barbara Cooper and 

Canterbury City Council chief executive Colin Carmichael also pointed to the positive 

relationships which exist between the two councils at both officer and member level. The 

county and districts in Kent have collaborated on a wide range of issues from Brexit no-deal 

emergency planning to business rate retention and housing and infrastructure. This 

collaboration happens at a county-wide level and between the county council and clusters of 

districts.   

All the councils in Kent are clear that housing, planning and infrastructure is a topic on which 

collaboration and effective joint working is essential given the different statutory roles the two 

types of council have in relation to these topics.  This is possible because of the many 

positive relationships which have developed over a long period of time  and the fact that the 

councils recognise that they have a shared interest in getting this right. 

In carrying out this work around housing and infrastructure the county and districts are clear 

that one size does not always fit all, and that sub-county working can be of great benefit. 

There is a recognition, for example, that it does not make sense to look at strategic highways 

issues at an individual district level, but that doing so at a cluster level adds real value. This 

is true of the East Kent Cluster, of which Canterbury is a part. This group of districts has 

worked with the county on bids into the LEP growth fund and efforts to influence MHCLG. 

There has also been joint work on highways improvements and investment particularly to 

support major housing development around Canterbury.  

The clusters of districts have also played an important role in Kent’s Growth and 

Infrastructure Framework. This strategic framework identifies and prioritises the investment 

in infrastructure across Kent and Medway as well as at a more detailed sub-county level. It 

was prepared in collaboration with the districts and draws on their local plans and housing 

targets. The framework is supported across the county by cross-tier working groups 

including a Kent Housing Group, Planning Officers Group, Finance Officers Group, Legal 

Kent is a large county with a very diverse geography and 12 city, district and borough 

councils. There are major growth opportunities in the county including housing 

development in Canterbury. There is well developed collaboration between the councils 

in Kent on housing, planning and infrastructure at a county-wide level and involving 

clusters of districts such as East Kent, which includes Canterbury. The work is supported 

by a network of office groups and is led by the Kent leaders group. Care is taken to 

balance the delivery of a shared vision for the county with the statutory responsibilities of 

individual districts. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Officers Group and Environment Officers Group. At a member level there is also a Kent 

Leaders group which enables the leaders of the county and districts to discuss key issues, 

set the direction of travel and maintain close relationships.  

Our interviewees identified two particularly challenges involved in collaboration on this topic 

in Kent. First, the need to strike a sensitive balance between the pursuit of a shared county-

wide vision and objectives and the importance of not encroaching on the statutory 

responsibilities of individual districts. Second, the challenge of collaborating on housing and 

infrastructure in the context of the scale and diversity of Kent: from Tunbridge Wells and 

Sevenoaks in the West to Margate and Thanet in the East, with a variety of different needs 

and opportunities. There is, however, confidence that progress can be made with the 

support of well-coordinated working groups, activity at a county, cluster and district level, a 

shared vision and willingness to work together.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Lessons 

 Collaboration between a county and clusters of districts can add real value in a large, 

diverse county with many city, borough and district councils. 

 Getting the right working groups in place to support collaboration on a topic such as 

housing, planning and infrastructures is very important. 

 It is possible to pursue a shared vision for a large county while respecting the roles 

and responsibilities of individual councils. 

Page 22

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Suffolk: Inclusive Economic Growth  

Interviewees: Cllr Matthew Hicks, leader, and Nicola Beach, chief executive, Suffolk County 

Council; and  Cllr Suzie Morley, Cllr John Ward, leaders,  and Arthur Charvonia, chief 

executive, Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils 

 

Suffolk is a place in which there is a “strong and natural urge to work together” according to 

the chief executive of Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils, Arthur Charvonia. This is 

echoed by Suffolk County Council leader Cllr Matthew Hicks who felt that there is both 

“political and officer will to collaborate” between councils in the county. The raft of 

collaborative projects which have taken place over the last few years is evidence of this: 

from the Suffolk Waste Partnership to the co-location of district and county offices; from 

large infrastructure projects to emerging joint working on the response to the climate 

emergency. 

This, however, has not always been the case:  in the past relationships have been rocky and 

collaboration has stalled.  This challenging period coincided with a focus on council 

structures. Since then, both county and districts have seen a huge culture shift, embodied 

and enacted by political and managerial leaders who see collaboration as key to achieving 

outcomes for communities in Suffolk.  

The Suffolk Public Sector Leaders group (SPSL), initially set up in 2009, survived that rocky 

period. Following  a governance review, it has become a vehicle for joined up and 

collaborative working in the county. The group, although not a formal part of the governance 

arrangements, has worked as an effective forum for communication and joint work between 

authorities and wider partners including, for example, the pooling of business rates in 

Suffolk. The membership of the group, which has bi-monthly meetings including alternate 

meetings held in public, includes council leaders, the Police and Crime Commissioner, the 

Suffolk constabulary and the CCGs.  

The group has supported joint work on topics such as youth employment, highways, and 

action to tackle gang and county lines issues. The leaders of Babergh and Mid Suffolk 

District Councils, Cllrs John Ward and Suzie Morley, both felt that this co-ordinated approach 

had delivered tangible benefits for the county. Cllr Ward added that working with his county 

colleagues was a “partnership of equals”, far from the perception that two-tier working is 

more like “us and them” than “we”. 

The Suffolk Public Sector Leaders group has created the conditions for collaboration 

between the councils on a range of topics including youth unemployment, county lines 

and inclusive growth. Key to the success of the group, however, are good relationships 

and high levels of trust between the political and managerial leaders in the county. 

County and district leaders see the arrangements in Suffolk as a partnership of equals. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

The SPSL has enabled effective collaboration on inclusive growth. In the past year, with a 

pot of £2m from the Local Growth Fund, the SPSL has funded local growth projects in each 

district. They include place-based visions and public realm improvements for some market 

towns in Babergh, and an Innovation Cluster and Innovation Labs in Mid Suffolk. In Ipswich 

and East and West Suffolk there have been large scale infrastructure bids for a 

redevelopment scheme, full-fibre broadband and a public sector hub respectively.  

These projects all require close collaboration between districts and county with their different 

statutory responsibilities around planning and infrastructure. For example, in Babergh the 

district council worked hand-in-hand with the county team on public realm and highways 

improvements in Sudbury as part of its wider place-making for its market towns.  

The SPSL is an important group, but it is not seen as the primary driver of this level of 

collaboration. All our interviewees attribute the effective collaboration on inclusive growth 

and other topics to  “relationships and trust”.   

In Suffolk there is a shared understanding that it is strong personal relationships that really 

drive collaboration and enable structures such as the SPSL to work. This approach is now 

so embedded that it can survive changes in personnel. The key is to have the right people in 

the room, working to a common set of goals with a clear focus on improving outcomes for 

local people.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lessons 

 It is possible to create the conditions for effective collaboration following a difficult 

period using a combination of appropriate structures, such as the SPSL, attention to 

the relationships and trust and a focus on outcomes for local people. 

 Engagement of other partners, such as police and health, is an important part of the 

process. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

 

  

Page 25

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Joint Posts and officer structures 
Interviewees: Yvonne Rees, Chief Executive of Cherwell District Council and Oxfordshire 

County Council and Claire Taylor, Corporate Director Customers and Organisational 

Development ; Cllr Mark Crane, Leader Selby District Council and Janet Waggott, Chief 

Executive of Selby District Council and Assistant Chief Executive of North Yorkshire County 

Council; and Jon McGinty, Managing Director of Gloucester City Council and Commissioning 

Director at Gloucestershire County Council. 

 

There are a number of joint post senior posts and officer structures between councils, but 

most are between pairs of district councils. Some, however, span a district and county 

council and in this research, we interviewed senior joint post-holders in three of these areas: 

Cherwell District and Oxfordshire, Gloucester City and Gloucestershire and Selby District 

and North Yorkshire. 

In all three case the joint posts are part of wider collaboration between the councils in the 

area. For example, in Selby and North Yorkshire the district Section 151 officer is also a 

county council employee, Gloucester City is part of the Gloucestershire’s Economic Growth 

Statutory Joint Committee alongside the other districts and Cherwell and Oxfordshire are key 

players in the Oxfordshire Growth Board.  

The key point that all of the interviewees made is that these posts not only benefit the 

councils concerned, but also deliver wider benefits to the relationship between councils in 

the area. For example, Jon McGinty the managing director of Gloucester City Council and 

commissioning director at the county council, saw the joint post as “improving the link 

between the other five districts and the county too”. There is a view that these joint posts can 

bring a county perspective to, say, meetings of the district council chief executives and a 

district perspective to meetings of a county’s corporate management team.  

Cherwell and Oxfordshire councils have also benefitted from a joint officer team. This means 

that officers who were previously part of the county council often work in what were district 

settings leading to far more contact and exchanges between officers from different 

disciplines and cultures.  . This creates the opportunity for more collaboration, understanding 

and shared learning. 

All Chief Executives and Leaders interviewed were clear that “collaboration doesn’t happen 

by magic” and that a concerted effort has to be made to maintain relations. This applies even 

in those areas which have longstanding agreements and relationships. The different cultures 

which exist in county and district councils is one aspect which Janet Waggott, Chief 

There are examples of joint senior posts between a county and a district council and in 

one case a joint officer structure. These are seen as bringing wider benefits to the 

relations across the areas concerned as well as to the pairs of councils involved. 

Page 26

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Executive of Selby District and Assistant Chief Executive of North Yorkshire County councils 

raised. She said that you have to ensure that the spirit of collaboration spreads to middle 

managers and frontline staff. Jon McGinty noted that even when county and districts were 

working well together there still needed to be constructive challenge in the relationship 

despite the joint post and that there was a danger that people would prefer consensus to 

that constructive challenge. In Oxfordshire and Cherwell Chief Executive Yvonne Rees and 

Joint Director Claire Taylor emphasised that incrementalism was one of the biggest things to 

get right and that it wasn’t just about a joint post holder improving collaboration. Having a 

joint structure means bringing along everyone in your organisation from members to frontline 

staff which is not something which will happen overnight. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Lessons 

 Joint posts can deliver benefits to the wider local government system in an area as 

well as to the pair of councils concerned. 

 Constructive challenge is an important feature of effective collaboration. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Appendix 1: Methodology 

 

This research was carried out through two phases of telephone interviews. From an initial 

long list by Shared Intelligence and calls to members from the District Councils Network and 

County Councils Network nine two-tier areas were chosen for non-attributable interviews. In 

each area we aimed to speak with a chief executive or senior officer and the leader or 

another senior member.  

These calls, lasting between 30 and 45 minutes, aimed to collect opinions on the drivers of 

and barriers to collaboration, examples of collaboration between counties and districts and 

also to begin looking at the lessons for other areas and thoughts on the future of 

collaboration in the next five years.  

The second round of attributable calls focused in on four areas in particular looking at 

different areas in which cross-tier collaboration is happening. This included three new areas 

which were added to the list of possible case studies. These calls took place with Chief 

Executives, senior officers and leaders of both the county and district in each area. They are 

identified in green on the table below. 

The findings from these calls were summarised and discussed internally with the LGA, DCN 

and CCN. They were further tested out in a sensemaking workshop with representatives 

from the case study areas and members of the LGA’s People and Places Board.  

Overall, calls took place in 12 of the 26 two-tier areas in England. The list of councils which 

took part in the research calls are detailed below:  

District Councils:   County Councils:  

Cherwell District Council  Oxfordshire County Council 

Selby Borough Council North Yorkshire County Council 

Gloucester City Council  Gloucestershire County Council 

Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils  Suffolk County Council 

East Staffordshire District Council  Staffordshire County Council  

Canterbury City Council  Kent County Council  

Mid Devon District Council  Devon County Council  

High Peak District Council  Derbyshire District Council  

North Kesteven District Council  

Mendip District Council  

 Surrey County Council 

 Norfolk County Council 

 

 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk




 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

 

Past the Peak 

 

Purpose of report 

For information. 

 

Summary 

This paper updates People and Places Board Members on analysis carried out to explore 

the economic impact of COVID-19 on regional sectors in the short and longer terms. A 

presentation will be given to highlight the findings of this research and set out how Members 

can use the paper to better understand the impact of COVID-19 on their local areas to assist 

with long-term sustainable economic resilience.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact officer:  Esther Barrott 

Position:   NGDP Trainee  

Phone no:   07464652906  

Email:    Esther.Barrott@local.gov.uk 

 

  

 

 

 

Recommendation 

Members are asked to: 

Consider the regional and sectoral impact analysis attached at Appendix 1 and the 

potential implications for the development of local recovery plans. 

Action 

No further action is required from Members. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

People and Places Board 

10 June 2020 

    

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Past the Peak  

Background 

1. The coronavirus pandemic has caused varying degrees of short term economic damage 

to every sector across all regions of England and Wales and is expected to have long 

term consequences.  

 

2. As local councils begin to think about the process of recovery, it is important that these 

discussions are informed by a sound evidence base. Past the Peak, a report that 

estimates the economic impact of COVID-19 on NUTS21 regions in England and Wales, 

has been developed to support these discussions. The full report is attached at 

Appendix 1. 

 

3. The report is comprised of two sections – a regional impact analysis, followed by a 

sectoral impact analysis. Within the regional analysis, the top five SIC072 sectors by 

gross value added (GVA) and number of employees have been extrapolated for each 

region and the risk level to each sector forecast.  

 

4. The sectoral analysis is determined using a range of quantitative and qualitative sources 

to rank the short and long-term effects of COVID-19 upon demand, import and exports, 

labour market and productivity. Following this, the ‘good growth potential’ has been 

forecast, looking into anecdotal and empirical evidence of the following three factors – 

environmental sustainability, adaptability and skills and economic sustainability.  

 

5. A presentation will be given to Members highlighting the key findings of the research at 

the Board meeting.  

Next Steps 

6. This item is presented for information, but Members are advised to reflect upon the 

analysis in their local recovery discussions and consider wider questions of sustainability 

as part of the Board’s future work programme.  

                                                

1 In the Nomenclature of Territorial Units for Statistics (NUTS) codes of the United Kingdom, there are 
three levels. Level 2 is used in this report which comprises of counties in England (most grouped), 
groups of districts in Greater London, and groups of unitary authorities in Wales.  

2 UK SIC 2007 (SIC07) is the current Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) used in classifying 
business establishments and other statistical units by the type of economic activity in which they 
are engaged.  

Page 32

Agenda Item 5

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


Past the Peak 
Exploring and forecasting the economic impact of 
COVID19 on NUTS2 regions in England and Wales 


Esther Barrott

JUNE 2020

Page 33

Agenda Item 5a



Executive Summary 
• Covid-19 has brought unique challenges to all sectors 

throughout the UK, with some better equipped to manage 
than others. 

• There is clear evidence that the manufacturing, retail, 
accommodation, food service activities, arts, entertainment 
and recreation sectors have all been severely affected in the 
short-term. 

• The communication and health sectors have both seen 
limited output gains from the new challenges posed by the 
current epidemic. 

• Sectors hit severely may be able to begin to recover in 
Q3&4, however the pace of this recovery will be dependant 
on the magnitude of the economic contraction suffered as a 
result of the initial lockdown period and crucially whether 
there will be another global spike in infection in the future. 

• Short-term economic planning after lockdown by local 
economic growth teams in councils should seek to develop 
short term investment and skills partnerships with local 
business, and identify where labour can be reassigned 
should long-term economic trends deteriorate.  

• Long-term development of regions should focus on re-
skilling the workforce and encourage investment in low-
carbon jobs which is crucial to future economic and 
environmental sustainability.  

• Manufacturing, services, utilities and construction should be 
at the forefront of post-Covid economic development as 
there is evidence of long-term low-carbon jobs growth 
within the sectors and GVA output is high and equally 
spread across regions. 

Page 34

Agenda Item 5a



Methodology 
Part 1: Regional impact analysis 

To calculate the impact on gross value added in the top five GVA producing 
sectors in UK regions, the GVA figures for 2018 were used from the ‘Regional 
activity by gross value added (income approach) by industry’ dataset published 
by the ONS. From this, the top five SIC07 sectors were extrapolated based on 
GVA per region.  

For each sector, the percentage change forecast from output estimates by the 
Office for Budget Responsibility as of April 14th 2020 was applied. This 
allowed the economic impact of COVID-19 to be forecast on a sectoral basis. 
From this the percentage GVA change of the top five sectors per region was 
illustrated and the risk level forecast. The risk level was calculated on an 
equally distributed three point scale.  

Part 2: Sectoral impact analysis  

A range of qualitative and quantitative sources were analysed to rank demand, 
import and exports, labour market and productivity on a scale of four - positive 
impact, minimal impact, significant impact, severe impact. Sources drawn 
upon included, but were not limited to, ONS Business Impact of COVID19 
Survey and reports by associations and industry leaders.  

Good growth potential was analysed through three factors - environmental 
sustainability, adaptability and skills and economic sustainability. 
Environmental sustainability considers how the sector can adapt to a world 
increasingly under the pressures of climate change. Adaptability focuses on 
the way in which sectors can change to develop new revenue streams and 
operate in a post-Covid economy. Whereas skills focuses on the way labour 
can be transferred between sectors to sustain employment and develop the 
economy through challenging conditions. Sustainability looks at long-term job 
growth, creation and retention. A particular focus is on low-carbon jobs. The 
evidence gathered is a mix of anecdotal and empirical in all three categories. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5a



Part 1 
The Impact of Covid-19 on the top five  
GVA Producing Sectors in NUTS2 
Regions

Summary 
• All NUTS2 regions in England and Wales are expected to experience output reductions of 

greater than 20% in their top five GVA producing sectors, according to calculations based on 
OBR long term estimates. 

• Retail and real estate are the two key drivers of regional GVA, as they are the most prevalent 
sectors across the top five of each region. Despite their considerable output, research suggests 
they are also two of the most economically fragile sectors and dependant on primary industry. 
Manufacturing and construction also feature prominently. 

• All four sectors could be highly susceptible to the long-term negative impact of the magnitude 
of the economic contraction suffered as a result of the initial lockdown period and if there will 
be another global spike in infection within the next year. There is the possibility that retail 
could be particularly vulnerable, as 27% of businesses interviewed have less than three months 
worth of cash reserves left (BICS). 

• Regions with the largest percentage reduction in GVA within their top five sectors by GVA are 
spread across the country without particular geographic concentration in any specific area. 

• While overall traditional sectors such as retail have seen a negative employment trend since the 
2008 financial crisis, local areas should use the current crisis as an opportunity to plan an 
environmentally and economically sustainable future. 

• Through the creation and co-ordination of new local skills plans,  harnessing preexisting 
economic regional sectoral speciality and new environmentally sustainable resources, local 
areas can plan for a long-term economic transition to harness the potential of low-carbon jobs 
and manage the decline of certain sectors.  

• Local government should look to develop short-term investment and skills partnerships with 
local business, and identify where labour can be reassigned should long term economic trends 
deteriorate. Short-term development of the health sector and information and communication 
sector may be appropriate to take advantage of current demand. 

• In addition, local government could focus on developing and adapting sectors to create 
sustainable low carbon jobs with long-term sustainable growth potential. Manufacturing, 
services, utilities and construction should be considered to be at the forefront of post-Covid 
economic development.

Page 36

Agenda Item 5a



Region

Total Top 5 
GVA 

Forecast 
(£mil)

Total Top 5 
GVA 2018 

(£mil)

Percentage 
GVA  

Change in 
Top 5

Risk Level 
to Top 5

Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire £17,393 £31,966 -46% Severe

Hampshire and Isle of Wight £15,382 £27,834 -45% Severe

Cheshire £10,477 £18,636 -44% Severe

Berkshire, Buckinghamshire and 
Oxfordshire £31,852 £54,309 -41% Severe

Gloucestershire, Wiltshire and Bath/Bristol 
Area £21,046 £35,223 -40% Severe

Outer London - West and North West £25,757 £42,537 -39% Severe

Herefordshire, Worcestershire and 
Warwickshire £13,236 £20,484 -35% Severe

Leicestershire, Rutland and 
Northamptonshire £15,723 £24,103 -35% Severe

West Midlands £23,292 £35,672 -35% Severe

East Yorkshire and Northern Lincolnshire £7,824 £11,858 -34% Severe

Cumbria £4,707 £7,095 -34% Severe

Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire £17,933 £26,868 -33% Severe

National Risk Matrix and 
Regional Top 5 GVA Impact 
Analysis

Page 37

Agenda Item 5a



Lancashire £13,787 £20,648 -33% Severe

North Yorkshire £7,327 £10,964 -33% Severe

Essex £16,504 £24,629 -33% Severe

South Yorkshire £10,088 £15,047 -33% Severe

Outer London - East and North East £14,826 £22,056 -33% Severe

Shropshire and Staffordshire £13,378 £19,821 -33% Severe

Kent £15,220 £22,472 -32% Severe

Lincolnshire £5,694 £8,391 -32% Severe

Cornwall and Isles of Scilly £4,253 £5,984 -29% Significant

Merseyside £12,486 £17,525 -29% Significant

Dorset and Somerset £11,855 £16,620 -29% Significant

Inner London - East £47,054 £65,671 -28% Significant

Inner London - West £99,312 £137,520 -28% Significant

East Anglia £23,426 £32,070 -27% Significant

Outer London - South £13,644 £18,341 -26% Significant

Region

Total Top 5 
GVA 

Forecast 
(£mil)

Total Top 5 
GVA 2018 

(£mil)

Percentage 
GVA  

Change in 
Top 5

Risk Level 
to Top 5

Page 38

Agenda Item 5a



Surrey, East and West Sussex £31,804 £42,494 -25% Significant

Greater Manchester £26,419 £34,936 -24% Significant

Northumberland and Tyne and Wear £12,503 £16,248 -23% Significant

Tees Valley and Durham £9,716 £12,625 -23% Significant

West Yorkshire £21,441 £27,372 -22% Significant

West Wales and The Valleys £16,271 £20,680 -21% Significant

Devon £10,675 £13,499 -21% Significant

Region

Total Top 5 
GVA 

Forecast 
(£mil)

Total Top 5 
GVA 2018 

(£mil)

Percentage 
GVA  

Change in 
Top 5

Risk Level 
to Top 5

Page 39

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Northumberland and Tyne and Wear

1 Manufacturing £4,089m -55

2 Real Estate Activities £3,859m -20

3 Human health and social work 
activities £3,323m +50

4 Wholesale and retail trade; repair 
of motor vehicles £2,166m -50

5 Public administration and 
defence £1,628m -20

Output Loss 
Total: -95

Employees - Northumberland and Tyne and Wear

1 Human health and social work activities 102,000

2 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 86,000

3 Manufacturing 64,000

4 Administrative and support service 
activities 57,000

5 Education 55,000

Page 40

Agenda Item 5a



Tees Valley and Durham 

1 Manufacturing £3,722m -55

2 Real Estate Activities £2,868m -20

3 Human health and social work 
activities £2,241m +50

4 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £2,930m -50

5 Information and Communication £2,047m -45

Output Loss 
Total: -120

Employees - Tees Valley and Durham 

1 Human health and social work activities 68,000

2 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 64,000

3 Manufacturing 50,000

4 Education 45,000

5 Administrative 30,000

Page 41

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Cumbria

1 Manufacturing £2,498 -55

2 Real Estate Activities £1,666m -20

3 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £1,237m -50

4 Human health and social work 
activities £936m +50

5 Construction £758m -70

Output Loss 
Total: -145

Employees - Cumbria

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 40,000

2 Manufacturing 37,000

3 Human health and social work activities 30,000

4 Accommodation and food service 
activities 27,000

5 Education 19,000

Page 42

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Greater Manchester

1 Real Estate Activities £8,311m -20

2 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £7,976m -50

3 Manufacturing £7,065m -55

4 Human health and social work 
activities £6,281m +50

5 Professional, scientific and 
technical activities £5,303m -40

Output Loss 
Total: -115

Employees - Greater Manchester

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 224,000

2 Human health and social work activities 159,000

3 Administrative and support service 
activities 142,000

4 Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 121,000

5 Manufacturing 104,000

Page 43

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Lancashire

1 Manufacturing £6,293 m -55

2 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £5,080m -50

3 Real estate activities £3,863m -20

4 Human health and social work 
activities £3,084m +50

5 Construction £2,328m -70

Output Loss 
Total: -145

Employees - Lancashire

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 113,000

2 Human health and social work activities 94,000

3 Manufacturing 87,000

4 Education 58,000

5 Accommodation and food service 
activities 46,000

Page 44

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Cheshire

1 Manufacturing £7,092m -55

2 Real estate activities £3,495m -20

3 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £3,397m -50

4 Professional, scientific and 
technical activities £2,507m -40

5 Administrative and support 
service activities £2,145m -40

Output Loss 
Total: -205

Employees - Cheshire

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 84,000

2 Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 65,000

3 Human health and social work activities 52,000

4 Administrative and support service 
activities 46,000

5 Manufacturing 41,000

Page 45

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Merseyside

1 Manufacturing £4,262m -55

2 Real estate activities £3,861m -20

3 Human health and social work 
activities £3,667m +50

4 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £3,513m -50

5 Education £2,222m -90

Output Loss 
Total: -165

Employees -  Merseyside

1 Human health and social work activities 110,000

2 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 99,000

3 Education 58,000

4
Administrative and support service 

activities 53,000

5 Manufacturing 49,000

Page 46

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - East Yorkshire and Northern Lincolnshire

1 Manufacturing £4,634m -55

2 Real estate activities £2,268m -20

3 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £2,069m -50

4 Human health and social work 
activities £1,686m +50

5 Construction £1,201m -70

Output Loss 
Total: -145

Employees - East Yorkshire and Northern Lincolnshire

1 Manufacturing 68,000

2 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 58,000

3 Human health and social work activities 53,000

4 Education 35,000

5 Administrative and support service 
activities 34,000

Page 47

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - North Yorkshire

1 Real estate activities £3,242m -20

2 Manufacturing £2,441m -55

3 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £2,294m -50

4 Human health and social work 
activities £1,564m +50

5 Education £1,423m -90

Output Loss 
Total: -165

Employees - North Yorkshire

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 56,000

2 Human health and social work activities 46,000

3 Accommodation and food service 
activities 44,000

4 Manufacturing 36,000

4 Education 36,000

Page 48

Agenda Item 5a



Employees - West Yorkshire

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 157,000

2 Human health and social work activities 138,000

3 Manufacturing 116,000

4 Administrative and support service 
activities 105,000

5 Education 103,000

GVA - West Yorkshire

1 Manufacturing £6,810m -55

2 Real estate activities £6,085m -20

3 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £2,924m -50

4 Human health and social work 
activities £4,509m +50

5 Financial and insurance activities £3,913m -5

Output Loss 
Total: -80

Page 49

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - South Yorkshire

1 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £3,398m -50

2 Manufacturing £3,119m -55

3 Human health and social work 
activities £2,924m +50

4 Real estate activities £2,913m -20

5 Education £2,693m -90

Output Loss 
Total: -165

Employees - South Yorkshire

1 Human health and social work activities 88,000

2 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 87,000

3 Manufacturing 64,000

4 Education 60,000

5 Administrative and support service 
activities 47,000

Page 50

Agenda Item 5a



Employees - Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 151,000

2 Human health and social work activities 132,000

3 Manufacturing 125,000

4 Education 89,000

5 Administrative and support service 
activities 70,000

GVA - Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire

1 Manufacturing £7,774m -55

2 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £6,084m -50

3 Real estate activities £5,335m -20

4 Human health and social work 
activities £4,541m +50

5 Education £3,134m -90

Output Loss 
Total: -165

Page 51

Agenda Item 5a



Employees - Leicestershire, Rutland and 
Northamptonshire

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 143,000

2 Manufacturing 102,000

3 Human health and social work activities 97,000

4 Administrative and support service 
activities 82,000

5 Education 76,000

GVA - Leicestershire, Rutland and Northamptonshire

1 Manufacturing £6,860m -55

2 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £5,858m -50

3 Real estate activities £5,145m -20

4 Construction £3,141m -70

5 Human health and social work 
activities £3,099m 50

Output Loss 
Total: -145

Page 52

Agenda Item 5a



Employees - Lincolnshire

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 50,000

2 Human health and social work activities 41,000

3 Manufacturing 38,000

4 Administrative and support service 
activities 27,000

5 Education 24,000

GVA - Lincolnshire

1 Manufacturing £2,261m -55

2 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £1,932m -50

3 Real estate activities £1,892m -20

4 Human health and social work 
activities £1,254m +50

5 Construction £1,052m -70

Output Loss 
Total: -145

Page 53

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Herefordshire, Worcestershire and Warwickshire

1 Manufacturing £6,450m -55

2 Real estate activities £5,122m -20

3 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £4,465m -50

4 Human health and social work 
activities £2,224m +50

5 Construction £2,223m -70

Output Loss 
Total: -145

Employees - Herefordshire, Worcestershire and 
Warwickshire

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 104,000

2 Manufacturing 82,000

3 Human health and social work activities 77,000

4 Administrative and support service 
activities 53,000

5 Education 52,000

Page 54

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Shropshire and Staffordshire

1 Manufacturing £5,457m -55

2 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £4,585m -50

3 Real estate activities £4,289m -20

4 Human health and social work 
activities £2,960m +50

5 Construction £2,530m -70

Output Loss 
Total: -145

Employees - Shropshire and Staffordshire

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 120,000

2 Human health and social work activities 93,000

3 Manufacturing 89,000

4 Education 57,000

5 Administrative and support service 
activities 51,000

Page 55

Agenda Item 5a



Employees - West Midlands

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 200,000

2 Human health and social work activities 175,000

3 Manufacturing 132,000

3 Education 132,000

4 Administrative and support service 
activities 118,000

GVA - West Midlands

1 Manufacturing £10,173m -55

2 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £7,753m -50

3 Real estate activities £6,845m -20

4 Human health and social work 
activities £5,908m +50

5 Education £4,993m -90

Output Loss 
Total: -165

Page 56

Agenda Item 5a



Employees - East Anglia

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 180,000

2 Human health and social work activities 147,000

3 Education 110,000

4 Manufacturing 106,000

5 Administrative and support service 
activities 102,000

GVA - East Anglia

1 Real estate activities £7,953m -20

2 Manufacturing £7,943m -55

3 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £6,708m -50

4 Human health and social work 
activities £4,951m +50

5 Professional, scientific and 
technical activities £4,515m -40

Output Loss 
Total: -115

Page 57

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire

1 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £7,836m -50

2 Real estate activities £7,713m -20

3 Manufacturing £6,304m -55

4 Construction £5,335m -70

5 Professional, scientific and 
technical activities £4,778m -40

Output Loss 
Total: -235

Employees - Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 152,000

2 Administrative and support service 
activities 132,000

3 Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 112,000

4 Human health and social work activities 88,000

5 Education 77,000

Page 58

Agenda Item 5a



Employees - Essex

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 129,000

2 Human health and social work activities 94,000

3 Education 69,000

4 Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 62,000

5 Administrative and support service 
activities 58,000

GVA - Essex

1 Real estate activities £6,958m -20

2 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £5,659m -50

3 Construction £4,693m -70

4 Manufacturing £4,075m -55

5 Human health and social work 
activities £3,244m 50

Output Loss 
Total: -145

Page 59

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Inner London - West 

1 Financial and insurance activities £43,381m -5

2 Professional, scientific and 
technical activities £34,240m -40

3 Information and communication £26,872m -45

4 Real estate activities £20,877m -20

5 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £12,150m -50

Output Loss 
Total: -160

Employees - Inner London - West 

1 Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 354,000

2 Financial and insurance activities 239,000

3 Information and communication 200,000

4 Administrative and support service 
activities 196,000

5 Accommodation and food service 
activities 191,000

Page 60

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Inner London - East 

1 Financial and insurance activities £16,008m -5

2 Information and communication £14,411m -45

3 Professional, scientific and 
technical activities £14,344m -40

4 Real estate activities £13,844m -20

5 Administrative and support 
service activities £7,064m 40

Output Loss 
Total: -150

Employees - Inner London - East 

1 Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 201,000

2 Human health and social work activities 152,000

2 Administrative and support service 
activities 152,000

3 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 121,000

4 Information and communication 115,000

Page 61

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Outer London - South

1 Real estate activities £7,839m -20

2 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £2,665m -50

3 Construction £3,718m -70

4 Professional, scientific and 
technical activities £2,456m -40

5 Human health and social work 
activities £2,409m 50

Output Loss 
Total: -130

Employees - Outer London - South

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 75,000

2 Administrative and support service 
activities 63,000

3 Human health and social work activities 62,000

4 Education 46,000

5 Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 40,000

Page 62

Agenda Item 5a



Employees - Outer London - East and North East

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 95,000

2 Human health and social work activities 80,000

3 Administrative and support service 
activities 66,000

4 Education 63,000

5 Accommodation and food service 
activities 39,000

GVA - Outer London - East and North East

1 Real estate activities £9,123m -20

2 Construction £4,050m -70

3 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £3,718m -50

4 Human health and social work 
activities £2,812m +50

5 Education £2,353m -90

Output Loss 
Total: -180

Page 63

Agenda Item 5a



Employees - Outer London - East and North East

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 95,000

2 Human health and social work activities 80,000

3 Administrative and support service 
activities 66,000

4 Education 63,000

5 Accommodation and food service 
activities 39,000

GVA - Outer London - East and North East

1 Real estate activities £9,123m -20

2 Construction £4,050m -70

3 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £3,718m -50

4 Human health and social work 
activities £2,812m +50

5 Education £2,353m -90

Output Loss 
Total: -180

GVA - Outer London - West and North West

1 Real estate activities £13,471m -20

2 Information and communication £8,705m -45

3 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £7,603m -50

4 Transportation and storage £7,325m -35

5 Construction £5,433m -70

Output Loss 
Total: -220

Employees - Outer London - West and North West

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 138,000

2 Human health and social work activities 96,000

3 Transport and storage 92,000

4 Administrative and support service 
activities 89,000

5 Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 79,000

Page 64

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Berkshire, Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire

1 Information and communication £14,169m -45

2 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £12,342m -50

3 Real estate activities £11,729m -20

4 Professional, scientific and 
technical activities £8,489m -40

5 Manufacturing £7,580m -55

Output Loss 
Total: -210

Employees - Berkshire, Buckinghamshire and 
Oxfordshire

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 212,000

2 Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 140,000

3 Education 139,000

4 Human health and social work activities 136,000

5 Administrative and support service 
activities 123,000

Page 65

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Surrey, East and West Sussex

1 Real estate activities £14,666m -20

2 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £8,624m -50

3 Professional, scientific and 
technical activities £6,994m -45

4 Manufacturing £6,431m -55

5 Human health and social work 
activities £5,779m +50

Output Loss 
Total: -170

Employees - Surrey, East and West Sussex

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 202,000

2 Human health and social work activities 179,000

3 Education 119,000

3 Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 119,000

4 Administrative and support service 
activities 107,000

Page 66

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Hampshire and Isle of Wight

1 Real estate activities £7,655m -20

2 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £6,510m -50

3 Manufacturing £5,069m -55

4 Information and communication £4,568m -45

5 Construction £4,032m -70

Output Loss 
Total: -240

Employees - Hampshire and Isle of Wight

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 141,000

2 Human health and social work activities 116,000

3 Education 82,000

4 Administrative and support service 
activities 74,000

5 Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 70,000

Page 67

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Kent

1 Real estate activities £7,146m -20

2 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £4,967m -50

3 Construction £4,146m -70

4 Manufacturing £3,375m -55

5 Human health and social work 
activities £2,838m +50

Output Loss 
Total: -145

Employees - Kent

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 123,000

2 Human health and social work activities 95,000

3 Education 72,000

4 Administrative and support service 
activities 61,000

5 Accommodation and food service 
activities 51,000

Page 68

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Gloucestershire, Wiltshire and Bath/Bristol area

1 Real estate activities £9,367m -20

2 Manufacturing £8,033m -55

3 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £7,566m -50

4 Professional, scientific and 
technical activities £5,375m -40

5 Administrative and support 
service activities £4,882m -40

Output Loss 
Total: -205

Employees - Gloucestershire, Wiltshire and Bath/
Bristol area

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 181,000

2 Human health and social work activities 163,000

3 Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 106,000

4 Public administration and defence 104,000

5 Manufacturing 99,000

Page 69

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - Dorset and Somerset

1 Real estate activities £5,245m -20

2 Manufacturing £3,420m -55

3 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £3,203m -50

4 Human health and social work 
activities £2,577m +50

5 Construction £4,882m -70

Output Loss 
Total: -145

Employees - Dorset and Somerset

1 Human health and social work activities 91,000

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 91,000

2 Manufacturing 56,000

2 Accommodation and food service 
activities 56,000

3 Education 49,000

Page 70

Agenda Item 5a



Employees - Devon

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 80,000

2 Human health and social work activities 78,000

3 Accommodation and food service 
activities 53,000

4 Education 45,000

5 Manufacturing 41,000

GVA - Devon

1 Real estate activities £4,142m -20

2 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £2,744m -50

3 Manufacturing £2,481m -55

4 Human health and social work 
activities £2,239m +50

5 Public administration and 
defence £1,893m -20

Output Loss 
Total: -95

Page 71

Agenda Item 5a



Employees - Cornwall & Scilly

1 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 38,000

2 Accommodation and food service 
activities 34,000

3 Human health and social work 33,000

4 Education 17,000

5 Manufacturing 15,000

GVA - Cornwall & Scilly

1 Real estate activities £1,612 -20%

2
Wholesale and retail trade; repair 

of motor vehicles £626 -50%

3 Construction £298 -70%

4
Human health and social work 

activities £1,344 50%

5 Manufacturing £373 -55%

Output Loss 
Total: -145

Page 72

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - West Wales and The Valleys

1 Manufacturing £5,741m -55

2 Real estate activities £4,432m -20

3 Human health and social work 
activities £3,989m +50

4 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £3,521m -50

5 Public administration and 
defence £2,997m -20

Output Loss 
Total: -95

Employees - West Wales and The Valleys

1 Human health and social work activities 130,000

2 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 106,000

3 Manufacturing 81,000

4 Education 70,000

5 Accommodation and food service 
activities 62,000

Page 73

Agenda Item 5a



GVA - East Wales

1 Manufacturing £5,049m -55

2 Real estate activities £3,313m -20

3 Human health and social work 
activities £2,711m +50

4 Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles £2,471m -50

5 Public administration and 
defence £2,012m -20

Output Loss 
Total: -95

Employees - East Wales

1 Human health and social work activities 83,000

2 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles 71,000

3 Manufacturing 62,000

4 Administrative and support service 
activities 48,000

5 Education 45,000

Page 74

Agenda Item 5a



Part 2 
An Economic Sectoral Impact Analysis 
of Covid-19

Summary 
• Analysis suggests sectors with high instances of face-to-face contact and output that occurs 

‘in situ’ have been hit hardest by the short-term impact of Covid-19 due to the impact of the 
government lockdown.  

• Negative labour market impact across the sectors has been limited. This mitigation may be due 
to the widespread adoption of the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme. Demand, and 
productivity, to a lesser degree, have been the main drivers of short-term negative economic 
impact. 

• Instances of severe short-term damage to output may include, but are not limited to, the 
manufacturing, retail, accommodation, food service activities, arts, entertainment and recreation 
sectors.  

• The communication and health sectors have both seen limited output gains from the new 
challenges posed by the current epidemic. 

• As the government lockdown eases through the summer months, sectors may struggle with 
new trading conditions. Sectors hit severely could be most affected if they are unable to adapt 
to operation outdoors or socially distanced indoors.  

• Long-term growth may depend on a number of factors. The magnitude of the economic 
contraction suffered as a result of the initial lockdown period, whether there will be another 
global spike in infection in the future and whether consumers are willing to return to pre-
Covid spending levels could be considerable factors. These three aspects are seen to be key to 
understanding and planning the long-term resilience of businesses across all sectors.  

• A second spike in infections could lead to further social distancing and lockdown procedures. 
Although businesses would be far better equipped to adapt due to the precedents from the 
initial spike, a lack of outdoor adaptation potential in the winter months and the limiting of 
already depleted cash reserves may see terminal decline in some sectors. 

• Sectors where research suggests there is possible risk of long-term decline include retail, 
accommodation, food, administrative, support services, arts, entertainment and recreation. 

• Good growth potential for short-term economic adjustment focuses on the ability to quickly re-
skill and adapt local economies to absorb job losses. Sectors with the highest instances may 
include manufacturing, health and transportation.  

• Long-term good growth potential for economic adjustment focuses on environmental and 
economic sustainability. Sectors with potentially high levels of green jobs include utilities, 
professional services and manufacturing. 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5a



Sector GVA Output 
Change Demand Imports & 

Exports
Labour 
Market Productivity

Agriculture, 
Forestry and 
Fisheries (A)

0 Minimal Impact Minimal Impact Severe Impact Significant 
Impact

Mining and 
Quarrying (B) -20 Significant 

Impact Severe Impact Minimal Impact Significant 
Impact

Manufacturing 
(C) -55 Significant 

Impact Severe Impact Significant 
Impact

Significant 
Impact

Utilities (D & E) -20 Severe Impact Significant 
Impact Minimal Impact Minimal Impact

Construction (F) -70 Severe Impact Minimal Impact Significant 
Impact

Significant 
Impact

Wholesale and 
retail trade; 

repair of motor 
vehicles (G)

-50 Severe Impact Severe Impact Significant 
Impact Severe Impact

Transportation 
and Storage (H) -35 Minimal Impact Severe Impact Significant 

Impact Minimal Impact

Accommodatio
n and food 

service activities 
(I)

-85 Severe Impact N/A Significant 
Impact Severe Impact

Information and 
Communication 

(J)
-45 Positive Impact Minimal Impact Minimal Impact Significant 

Impact

Financial and 
insurance 

activities (K)
-5 Minimal Impact Minimal Impact Minimal Impact Minimal Impact

Real estate 
activities (L) -20 Significant 

Impact N/A Minimal Impact Severe Impact

Professional, 
scientific and 

technical 
activities (M)

-40 Significant 
Impact

Significant 
Impact Minimal Impact Significant 

Impact

Administrative 
and support 

service activities 
(N&O)

-40 Severe Impact Significant 
Impact

Significant 
Impact Severe Impact

Education (P) -90 Severe Impact Minimal Impact Minimal Impact Severe Impact

Human health 
and social work 

(Q)
+50 Positive Impact Significant 

Impact Positive Impact Minimal Impact

Arts, 
entertainment 
and recreation 

(R)

N/A Severe Impact Severe Impact Significant 
Impact Severe Impact

Page 76

Agenda Item 5a



Section A - Agriculture, forestry and fishing

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Agriculture, 
Forestry and 
Fisheries (A)

0 Minimal Impact Minimal Impact Severe Impact Significant 
Impact

Impact Analysis 
• Both domestic demand and imports/exports have suffered in the short-term, however long-term 

indicators suggest the sector could rebound, with the exception of concerns among dairy farmers. 
• ILO data suggests that global food demand has not fallen to previously estimated levels, and should 

recover as nations exit lockdowns. However, the NFU has outlined concerns from dairy industry 
representatives throughout the supply chain that the industry may suffer irreparable damage in the long 
term. 

• Sectoral dependance on migrant and older workers could be a severe long-term threat to the sector. 
This could have a knock on effect on productivity. 

• 47% currently employed are aged between 60-69 (ONS: Labour market economic commentary: April 
2020). This raises the risk of future shielding requirements if there is a ‘second wave’. Migrant workers 
total around 75,000 strong each year, however this pool of labour is at risk due to the changes outlined 
in the Immigration Bill.

Good Growth 

Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• There is no agreed definition of 
what constitutes 
environmentally sustainable 
agriculture. However it is to be 
the centrepiece of the 
government’s ’25 Year Future 
Farming Plan’. 

• Government focus on restoring 
natural capital and improving 
resource efficiency to be 
outlined in post-Brexit 
legislation. Scope for long 
term development. 

• A sector that is already highly 
diversified, with over 60% of 
farms reporting they have 
alternative revenue streams 
(DEFRA, Defra’s Farm Business 
Survey). 

• Potential for over 100,000 
jobs in bioenergy nationally by 
2050 (LGA: Estimating the 
number of low-carbon and 
renewable energy jobs.) 

• The sector’s importance may 
be amplified by a reduction in 
imports due to post-Brexit 
tariffs.

Page 77

Agenda Item 5a



Good Growth 

Section B - Mining and Quarrying

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Mining and 
Quarrying (B) -20 Significant 

Impact Severe Impact Minimal Impact Significant 
Impact

Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• Mining supports around 45% 
of the world’s economic 
activities, however is 
extremely unsustainable. 
There may be little scope for an 
environmentally sustainable 
future.  

• With the transition to green 
energy alternatives, the 
industry is under pressure to 
adapt (Kellogg Innovation 
Network). 

• Technological change and 
automation estimated to lead 
to job losses of 35% in 
traditional mining practices 
(and up to 75% for operators of 
mining equipment like truck 
drivers (United Nations 
Conference on Trade and 
Development.) 

• Lack of short-term up-skilling 
potential due to structure of 
high-tech stem education to 
equip skills for the mining 
industry.

• Demand for the UK mining 
sector internationally is 
predicted to increase into the 
future due to rising energy 
costs, social and geopolitical 
risks, infrastructure shortages 
and resource nationalism 
(Deolitte).

Impact Analysis 
• Research suggests there could be severe short-term weakening of the import/export market and 

failure of increased domestic demand, with potential long-term implications on financial viability. 
• Chinese demand for oil imports year on year are 2.5% below Q2 2019, however are expected to recover 

to up to 13 million barrels per day (b/d) in Q2 2020, up 16.3% compared to Q1 2020 (Wood 
Mackenzie.). 

• Minimal labour market issues however evidence suggests productivity affected by lockdown. If 
demand was not to recover, long-term redundancy may be an issue. 

• Oil and gas workers have been given a Covid-19 quarantine exemption by the UK Home Office, allowing 
for favourable labour market conditions and long-term insurance productivity.  

• Heavy use of the furlough scheme in the short-term by firms (Energy Voice, Petrofac to furlough 200 
north-east workers), and risk of further long-term layoff (Sky News, Coronavirus: BP slumps to loss as 
industry body warns on UK oil and gas jobs.).

Page 78

Agenda Item 5a



Section C - Manufacturing 

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Manufacturing 
(C) -55 Significant 

Impact Severe Impact Significant 
Impact

Significant 
Impact

Impact Analysis 
• Domestic demand, imports and exports all fell to record lows during Q1, however businesses are 

recovering with the easing of lockdown.  
• Businesses are importing and exporting, but less than usual (Exports: 58%, Imports 78% (BICS). 

• Businesses are fairly resilient, with 43% reporting reserves that can last four months or more (ONS 
BICS) however most expect annual profits to be significantly lower than usual. 

• 86% expect profits to be reduced or much reduced over the next six months and 85% see sales turnover 
being reduced or much reduced over the same period (Manufacturing Barometer Q4). 

• Research suggest significant reliance on furlough and prediction of layoff in the long-term.  
• 89% of business relied on the furlough scheme when temporarily closed (BICS) and 55% expect staff 

numbers to be reduced or much reduced over the next six months (Manufacturing Barometer Q4).

Good Growth 

Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• Scope for optimising 
processes that minimise 
negative environmental 
impacts, such as conserving 
energy and natural resources. 

• Manufacturing innovations 
like IOT, automatisation, 3D 
print offer lower production 
and labour costs and greater 
efficiency, aiding 
environmental sustainability. 

• Prevalence of manual jobs 
makes the sector ideal for up-
skilling workers from other 
sectors more effected by 
Covid-19. 

• Sector has adapted to meet 
demand in different 
manufacturing areas, such as 
pharmaceutical and medical 
goods. Examples include the 
manufacture of surgical scrubs, 
ventilators and face-masks. 

• Potential for a share of jobs 
from the low emission vehicles 
and infrastructure, specifically 
in the manufacture of EV 
batteries and electric cars. 

• Future sector worth 200,000 
jobs by 2050 and is crucially 
environmentally sustainable, 
however is dependant on the 
development of skills within 
the workforce.

Page 79

Agenda Item 5a



Sections D & E - Utilities

Good Growth 

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Utilities (D & E) -20 Severe Impact Significant 
Impact Minimal Impact Minimal Impact

Impact Analysis 
• Domestic demand is around 15% lower than this time last year.  

• The impact of COVID-19 on public finances has led to the cancellation of direct debits. These have run 
at three times their normal levels for domestic suppliers, and 10 times for non-domestic suppliers 
(KPMG). 

• The impact on energy companies may be delayed as profits are reduced in the long-term. 
• Future cash flow problems and bad debts mixed with the operational challenges around social 

distancing rules may have led to late requests for government support (67% have applied for the Job 
Retention Scheme (BICS)). 

• Dependence on commodities and primary sectors of the economy could leave utilities at risk of future 
long-term economic risk. 
• The collapse in the oil price may lead to the cutting back on capital spending and potential job losses 

(KPMG). 

Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• Significant potential for 
environmentally sustainable 
growth during the transition to 
carbon zero. 

• Expansion of low-carbon 
electricity, heat and 
alternative fuels may help 
reduce the dependance on 
fossil fuels such as gas and 
coal. 

• Lack of short term up-skilling 
potential possibly due to 
structure of high-tech stem 
education to equip skills for 
the utilities industry.

• Future sectoral growth could 
create over 625,000 jobs by 
2050 in low-carbon electricity, 
heat and alternative fuels (LGA: 
Estimating the number of low-
carbon and renewable energy 
jobs). 

• Impact of sectoral growth 
onto secondary and tertiary 
industry may allow for security 
of investment opportunity.

Page 80

Agenda Item 5a



Sections F - Construction

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Construction (F) -70 Severe Impact Minimal Impact Significant 
Impact

Significant 
Impact

Impact Analysis 
• Despite sites suffering little loss to productivity as a result of limited closure, evidence suggests 

construction demand fell in the short-term. 
• The decrease in total demand (6.2%) in March 2020 could be due to falls in all new work sectors; private 

new housing and private commercial were the largest contributors, falling by 6.4% and 7.1% 
respectively (ONS). 

• Imports and labour supply has also been reduced. 
• Demand for labour fell by 70% in April and 51% of businesses found that they were able to import less 

than normal (BICS). 
• High levels of self employment and macroeconomic trends may suggest long-term difficulty. 

• 36% of all people working in the sector are self employed (NOMIS) and the sector only reached pre-crisis 
levels of growth this year. The sector may struggle to recover from a prolonged period of economic stress. 

Good Growth 
Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• Some potential for of “carbon 
locked” materials and other 
eco-friendly materials may help 
reduce the environmental 
impact of new building 
projects. 

• Skills gap as of 15 key trades in 
the sector, 40% show skills 
shortages (The Federation of 
Master Builders.) 

• Ageing workforce as one in 
five construction employees 
were aged over 55 (ONS.) 

• With the correct skills 
strategy, the sector may have 
considerable scope for 
adaptation. 

• Future growth opportunity 
linked to the infrastructure 
required to reach carbon 
neutral.  

• Low-carbon infrastructure will 
create a predicted 200,000 
jobs nationally by 2050 (LGA: 
Estimating the number of low-
carbon and renewable energy 
jobs).

Page 81

Agenda Item 5a



Good Growth 

Sections G - Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 
motor vehicles

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Wholesale and 
retail trade; 

repair of motor 
vehicles (G)

-50 Severe Impact Severe Impact Significant 
Impact Severe Impact

Impact Analysis 
• With the closure of all non-essential retailers, evidence shows the demand for and productivity of the 

sector has been hampered in the short-term. 
• Despite online sales surging in certain sub-sectors, short term footfall fell by 45% in March and sales by 

18% in April. 
• A long-term economic recession and possible second spike in infections could suggest poor demand 

may continue. 
• In the short-term, 96% of retailers reported cashflow difficulties, with 40% facing difficulties meeting tax 

liabilities. A further 31% of retailers also faced constraints on the availability of external finance (CBI). 
• High profile insolvencies so far may be the tip of the iceberg, as more businesses could be at risk of 

collapse in the long-term. 
• Thousands of jobs have been lost at Debenhams, Laura Ashley, Oasis and Warehouse, and BrightHouse. 

27% of businesses interviewed have less than three months worth of cash reserves left (BICS).

Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• Some potential to reduce the 
300,000 tonnes of clothing 
every year that is incinerated or 
sent to landfill in the UK by 
investing in a smarter supply 
chain using blockchain and 
automation technology.

• Prevalence of manual jobs 
makes the sector ideal for up-
skilling workers from other 
sectors more effected by 
Covid-19. However, the long-
term viability of jobs may be 
hampered by a second 
lockdown. 

• Skills in the sector are 
transferable within sub-
sectors.

• There are indicators that long-
term economic sustainability in 
the traditional retail setting is 
diminishing. 

• A hybrid model of online and 
traditional retail may be the 
answer to ensure stability in the 
long-term to ensure post-Covid 
reslience.

Page 82

Agenda Item 5a



Good Growth 

Section H - Transportation and storage

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Transportation 
and Storage (H) -35 Minimal Impact Severe Impact Significant 

Impact Minimal Impact

Impact Analysis 
• In the short-term, evidence suggests the impact of the closure of air transport hubs has appeared 

devastating for the transportation sector. 
• British Airways and Virgin Atlantic have seen vast redundancies. BA has given contract ultimatums to staff 

that has led to ’42,000 people having their pay, terms and conditions totally torn up’ (Transport Select 
Committee). 

• However, significant demand for transportation and storage services have persisted domestically. 
•  95% of firms continued to trade during the height of the lockdown and government funding for 

domestic travel has seemingly safeguarded the industry. 
• Long-term financial pressure and consumer confidence may lead to redundancies in international 

focused industry. 
• The air transport industry may not reach 2019 levels of demand until 2022 (IATA) and 28% of transport 

firms report that they have less than three months worth of cash reserves to remain operating. 

Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• The transport sector is seen to 
be highly environmentally 
unsustainable, especially with 
its dependance on aviation 
and shipping. 

• An economic shift to electric 
vehicles may help combat the 
negative environmental impact. 

• Production of low-carbon 
infrastructure and batteries will 
assist the creation of low 
carbon jobs in other sectors.

• Transport and storage requires 
relatively low levels of formal 
training, therefore may be idea 
for short term re-skilling.

• The sector is a vital support 
sector for the wider economy, 
therefore research suggests it 
will be sustained in the long-
term. 

Page 83

Agenda Item 5a



Good Growth 

Section I - Accommodation and food service 
activities

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Accommodation 
and food service 

activities (I)
-85 Severe Impact N/A Significant 

Impact Severe Impact

Impact Analysis 
• The sector has been forced to near totally shut down as a result of the widespread lockdown which is 

suggested to have stifled domestic demand and productivity. 
• 78.1% of businesses had temporarily closed or paused trading during the lockdown and the hospitality 

sector saw sales decline 21.3% in the first quarter of 2020. 
• Adaptation by businesses may be seen to have helped combat some of the negative impact. 

• A government statutory instrument has allowed food service businesses to temporarily open as 
takeaways until March 2021, a move which as allowed large companies such as Pret and smaller 
businesses to ‘get their supply chain up and running’.  

• Long-term recovery may be dependent on the easing of the lockdown, tourism and public health, all 
of which are unpredictable factors. 

• 44% of businesses surveyed had less than three months of cash reserves available (the highest rate in 
the BICS), suggesting the sector is extremely vulnerable to any further economic shocks or shutdown. 

Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• Some opportunity for suitability 
development of waste by the 
sector. Food being wasted in 
the sector is estimated at 
£3billion per year (WRAP). 
Future planning brings 
opportunities to reduce waste 
and save money.  

• As a sector under intense 
pressure and with a primarily 
youthful workforce (NOMIS), 
the skills in the sector are 
highly useful to diversify other 
economic sectors.

• Further adoption and 
development of takeaway and 
outdoor retail opportunity.

Page 84

Agenda Item 5a



Good Growth 

Section J - Information and Communication

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Information and 
Communication 

(J)
-45 Positive Impact Minimal Impact Minimal Impact Significant 

Impact

Impact Analysis 
• Computer technology and cloud solutions have seen record levels of demand and potentially 

remain relatively unaffected by the virus.  
• 94.4% of companies interviewed have continued to trade thought the lockdown period in some 

capacity, and demand for cloud computing solutions in particular has soared, particularly in the 
health sector. Exports and imports have also remained steady, and could recover. 

• Research suggests creative media, especially film and television, has suffered issues of 
productivity due to lockdown limitations however this could improve in the long-term. 

• ITV outlined losses of 42% in advertising revenue, furloughing 800 members of staff and 50,000 
freelancers are estimated to have lost work as film production stalled (BECTU). 

• Long-term issues may hamper the viability of offline media, such as the publishing industry. 
• Newspapers have seen a fall in sales of around 30% (The Guardian) and hyper-regional promotional 

events such as the Edinburgh Book Festival and Hay Literary Festival have been cancelled.

Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• Some opportunity for 
circular economic 
adaptation within the sector, 
and more broadly across the 
economy is necessary, such 
as increasing reliance on 
secondary metal production 
and encouraging a more 
effective, concerted waste 
management with a zero 
landfill approach.

• Lack of short-term re-skilling 
potential due to structure of 
high-tech stem education to 
equip skills for the 
technological subsection of 
the industry.

• Information and technology 
will gain a share of future 
jobs in the low-carbon 
services sector. The sector is 
estimated to create an extra 
164,000 jobs by 2050.

Page 85

Agenda Item 5a



Section K - Financial and insurance activities

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Financial and 
insurance 

activities (K)
-5 Minimal Impact Minimal Impact Minimal Impact Minimal Impact

Impact Analysis 
• Analysis suggests short-term financial and insurances activates have taken an expected hit, however 

the markets have stabilised thanks to the interventions of central banks. 
• The FTSE 100 index fell by a fifth since the start of the year so far, down from 7,604 points. The Bank of 

England’s Term Funding Scheme with additional incentives for SMEs helped reassure investors in March. 
• Recent signals in the financial markets demonstrate stocks rallying as a result of national lockdowns 

being lifted. 
• In the penultimate week of May, the FTSE enjoyed four consecutive days above 6,000 points for the first 

time since the UK went into lockdown. 
• Financiers may be reluctant to commit to any further long-term investments and the long-term impact 

of the virus and any further lockdown could determine the response of the markets. 
• Further analysis of financial market trends should be developed as the virus is tracked and either 

resurges or is repressed.

Good Growth 
Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• Sector leaders may wish to 
integrate climate risk into 
their operations and 
transitioning from 
measurement to 
management. 

• The sector may wish to 
emphasise cross-firm 
collaboration and engage 
governments with action on 
climate change.

• Skills in the sector are highly 
specialist, and it is not easy 
to up-skill labour quickly.

• Financial and insurance 
activities will gain a share of 
future jobs in the low-carbon 
services sector. The sector is 
estimated to create an extra 
164,000 jobs by 2050.

Page 86

Agenda Item 5a



Good Growth 

Section L - Real estate activities

Impact Analysis 
• Real estate activity may have been drastically impacted by the government lockdown and the closure 

of some construction sites, reducing supply of housing stock. 
• 74% of estate agents found that buyer enquires had fallen and 69% reported falls in sales (Residential 

Market Survey). 
• There is evidence that, as the lockdown is lifted, the sector will not suffer 2008 financial crisis-style 

consequences. 
• Whereas house prices fell by 16% in 2008, economists are predicting only a 4% reduction in the figure in 

the wake of Covid-19 (Capital Economics) and suggest that consumers are postponing property 
purchases rather than cancelling them altogether. 

• Long-term estimates could be dependant on the wider macroeconomic trends of the incoming 
recession, and whether consumer confidence is able to be maintained.

Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• Real estate is predicted to be 
an extremely challenging 
sector to become 
environmentally sustainable, 
as it has little environmental 
output. 

• Investment in 
environmentally sustainable 
real estate may be a 
potential innovation. 

• Skills in the sector are highly 
specialist, and are not easy 
to re-skill labour quickly. 

• The sector is also not a large 
employer, despite its GVA 
output.

• The sector is a vital support 
sector for the wider 
economy, therefore is 
guaranteed to be sustained 
in the long-term and is 
dependant on wider 
macroeconomic trends. 

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Real estate 
activities (L) -20 Significant 

Impact N/A Minimal Impact Severe Impact

Page 87

Agenda Item 5a



Good Growth 

Section M - Professional, scientific and technical 
activities

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Professional, 
scientific and 

technical 
activities (M)

-40 Significant 
Impact

Significant 
Impact Minimal Impact Significant 

Impact

Impact Analysis 
• As a highly productive sector, short-term indicators suggest the sector has lacked the capacity to 

maintain levels of exports and imports. 
• 74% of businesses are still able to export, but less than usual (BICS). 

• There highly adaptable nature of the sector has allowed it to continue to trade, however certain sub-
sectors that are dependant on primary/secondary industry may suffer, such as legal services. 

• Through the refocusing of all scientific activity to COVID-19 related work, most businesses have 
continued to trade.  

• There is the possibility that the sector could be affected by a potential lack of long-term demand if 
consumers view services as non-essential. 

• Long-term demand is potentially a serious hindrance to its long-term economic prospects as both 
business and consumer finance worsens as profits narrow.

Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• The sector may wish to adapt 
to the low-carbon services 
sector. Further information 
under economic 
sustainability.  

• Expansion of corporate social 
responsibility and other 
development methods may 
be a possible option.

• A highly specialised 
profession that requires high 
levels of educational and 
vocational training. 

• Relative ease of adaptation 
to cope with changing and 
diverse socio-economic 
factors. 

• Unsuitable for short-term re-
skilling from other Covid-19 
hit sectors. 

• The sector will gain the bulk 
share of future jobs in the low- 
carbon services sector. The 
sector is estimated to create 
an extra 164,000 jobs by 
2050.

Page 88

Agenda Item 5a



Good Growth 

Section N & O - Administrative and support 
service activities

Impact Analysis 
• With the sector dependant on primary and secondary industry, analysis suggests the sector has 

suffered a serious decline in productivity and demand. 
• Swissport, an aviation support service provider has seen a 95% drop in income and 70% of their costs 

are on salaries, and 56% of businesses that responded stated that income had dropped by more than 
20% since the start of the lockdown (BICS). 

• As a sector reliant on supporting other industry, the extent to which the short-term impact can be 
negated may depend on wider macroeconomic factors. 

• 36% of business that responded had less than six months of cash reserves left (BICS). The sector includes 
tour guides and tourist services. With tourism seen to be severely hit by the crisis, this too may be an 
area that struggles in the medium to long-term until tourism returns to pre-COVID levels. 

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Administrative 
and support 

service activities 
(N&O)

-40 Severe Impact Significant 
Impact

Significant 
Impact Severe Impact

Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• The sector may wish to adapt 
to the low carbon 
infrastructure sector. Further 
information under economic 
sustainability. 

• Skills required for the sector 
are extremely varied, which 
may make the sector 
valuable to mitigate job 
losses, depending on long-
term economic trends.

• The sector will gain a share 
share of future jobs in the low 
carbon infrastructure and 
vehicle sector. The sector is 
estimated to create an extra 
200,000 jobs by 2050.

Page 89

Agenda Item 5a



Section P - Education

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Education (P) -90 Severe Impact Minimal Impact Minimal Impact Severe Impact

Good Growth 

Impact Analysis 
• State and private educational bodies have seen a closure of ‘face to face’ services, however the sector 

has adapted to using online technology to continue to provide limited services. 
• All universities in England and Wales had closed their physical spaces. Some schools are currently only 

allowing selected year groups.  
• The government plans to reopen state education in the medium-term. Universities are planning to 

teach a greater proportion of classes via online methods. 
• A recent announcement by the University of Cambridge that all teaching is to take place online is set to 

be the norm for further education, as per anecdotal evidence from university staff. 
• Long-term demand from overseas and domestic higher education applicants may be severely 

diminished the long-term, and output may be hugely reduced. 
• Universities UK announced that  they are “looking at at least a five-year recovery period in terms of the 

global numbers of people who move between countries for education.”

Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• As per the 2019 
Sustainability in Education 
Report, the sector will 
continue to integrate UN 
Development Goals within 
both public and private 
institutions. It is already 
relativity environmentally 
sustainable. 

• Skills in the sector are highly 
specialist, and it is not easy 
to re-skill labour quickly.

• The sector is crucial in the 
development of the UK 
workforce, and is seen to be 
heavily reliant on 
government assistance.

Page 90

Agenda Item 5a



Section Q - Human Health and social work 
activities

Good Growth 

Impact Analysis 
• Evidence suggests this sector has been one of the few that has seen a considerable increase in short-

term demand and labour. 
• Despite businesses in the sector struggling with higher prices for goods and services, general demand 

has been extremely high due to the short-term pandemic conditions. 
• As the lockdown eases, demand could remain high and may increase as consumer confidence to 

engage with health services improves. 
• Visits to A&E have been around 50% less that usual due to reservations about Covid-19 infection rates. 

As confidence in public health increases, human health and social work may see an increase in demand 
and brace itself for a productivity boom.  

• Irregardless of the pandemic, demographic changes in the UK population may increase demand in 
the long-term. 

• With an increasingly ageing population, health and social care should be a crucial area for long-term. 

Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• Research suggests little 
opportunity for further 
environmental sustainability, 
other than using 
technological solutions and 
blockchain to prevent 
wastage of resources.

• Skills required for the sector 
are extremely varied, which 
may make the sector 
valuable to mitigate job 
losses, depending on long 
-term economic trends. 

• The sector is crucial in the 
health of the UK workforce, 
and is heavily reliant on 
government assistance. Its 
economic sustainability may 
be dependent on 
government policy and NHS 
leadership.

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Human health 
and social work 

(Q)
+50 Positive Impact Significant 

Impact Positive Impact Minimal Impact

Page 91

Agenda Item 5a



Section R - Arts, entertainment and recreation

Good Growth 

Impact Analysis 
• Due to the face-to-face nature of the services provided by the sector, evidence suggests its output and 

productivity has been severely diminished due to the pandemic. 
• 80% of businesses were closed in May and 42.6% reported turnover has been reduced by greater than 

50% (BICS).  
• As the government lifts lockdown restrictions, it is possible that the sector will be one of the least able 

to adapt to social distancing regulations. 
• Long-term economic prospects may be dependent on a return to usual trading conditions. As a result, 

any further disruption may be detrimental for many in the industry. 
• Many cultural venues and businesses rely on donations to remain viable. A deep recession may diminish 

the rate and size of donations. Cash flow and reserves are extremely low in the sector. 

Environmental Sustainability Adaptability and Skills Economic Sustainability 

• Evidence suggests little 
opportunity for further 
environmental sustainability 
as the sector is already 
relatively sustainable.

• Skills in the sector are highly 
specialist, and it is not easy 
to re-skill labour quickly. 

• The sector has possible 
issues of sustainability due 
to its dependance on face-to-
face service provision. Its 
ability to operate in the post-
Covid economy will depend 
on social distancing. 

Sector GVA Output 
Change

Domestic 
Demand

Imports & 
Exports

Labour 
Market Productivity

Arts, 
entertainment 

and recreation (R)
N/A Severe Impact Severe Impact Significant 

Impact Severe Impact

Page 92

Agenda Item 5a



 

 

 

 

 
 

Note of last People & Places Board meeting 
 

Title: 
 

People & Places Board 

Date: 
 

Tuesday 17 March 2020 

Venue: Smith Square 1&2, Ground Floor, 18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 
3HZ 

  

 
 
 

Item Decisions and actions 
 

1  Welcome, introductions and declarations of interest 
 
Cllr Morris Bright welcomed members and highlighted that while online board meetings 
were new to the Local Government Association, it was now more important than ever 
for the work of the board to continue. 
 
Ian Hughes updated members on the work the LGA is doing to support the demands 
that have been placed on Councils with recent events. Members should feedback to the 
LGA on what is going on within their communities, on an ongoing basis. 
 
Members made the following comments: 

 Scrutiny functions in councils will struggle, without changes in how councils can 
run. 

 The social care sector will struggle without an increase in staff. Children’s social 
care workers will see a reduction in the flow of new cases over this period, but 
this is likely to mean cases are under-detected rather than reduced. Schools will 
also be struggling in this climate. 

 Local businesses will struggle to claim insurance over informal closures by 
government. 

 End of life services are currently at capacity and this will only become a bigger 
pressure as the months go on. 

 The Agricultural sector will struggle with getting labour in for seasonal work. 

 The voluntary sector needs celebrating for the current hard work they are doing. 
 
Cllr Rachel Baily declared an interest in Item 4, Councils role in the future of rural land 
management. 
 

 

2  Growth funding and fiscal devolution to non-metropolitan areas 
 
Joe Fyans, Localis, gave a presentation on research commissioned by the Board into 
fiscal devolution to non-metropolitan areas. He highlighted international examples of 
fiscal autonomy and decentralised growth funding from Germany, Switzerland and the 
Netherlands, which draws on interviews with key stakeholders from each country to 
better understand how these systems work in practice as well as the lessons for local 
government in non-metropolitan England. 
 
Members made the following comments 

 How does the commissioned research relate to the Devolution White Paper? 
 

Officers Responded 

 

Page 93

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

 

 

 The research will help shape the LGA’s ongoing work into further devolution and 
will be shared with the devolution task force for comment. 

 The final report will be sent to Lead Members for clearance.  
 
Decision 
 
Members noted the findings of the report.  
 

3  UK Shared Prosperity Fund and Growth Funding 
 
Jasbir Jhas gave members an update on the current position on UKSPF and growth-
related funding in the run up to the Spending Review and the Devolution White Paper. 
 
Members made the following comments 

 Members made the following comments: 

 Welcomed the report as a way of strengthening our position on UKSPF. It is 
critical that we move to a position that local and combined authorities play a 
lead role in designing, prioritising, commissioning and have oversight of the 
UKSPF and other growth funding.  

 Themes in paragraph 8 demonstrate why local and combined authorities should 
be central to design and commissioning. Must move toward a multi agency 
approach.  

 Agreed that competitive bidding is not the way forward, and that there must be 
room for supporting innovation both nationally and locally.  Clearer articulation 
of definition of ‘local need’ is required.  

 Need to do more to get this message across to MPs. 
 
Officers responded 

 Being very clear about how local authorities should be taking the lead on energy 
but ensuring the LEPs have a role. Climate change is an issue that the LGA is 
taking leading on. 

 
Decision 
 
Members agreed the principles for the UKSPF and wider growth funding. 
 

 

4  Councils role in the future of rural land management 
 
Daniel Shamplin-Hall detailed the work that the LGA has undertaken on the future role 
of councils in the management of rural land. Daniel summarised the current policy 
context and outlined the opportunities for the Board to continue to influence this 
agenda. 
 
Members made the following comments: 

 Should this decision be taken before meeting with the National Farmers Union 
(NFU)?  

 The land model will be important in reducing the carbon impact that the rural 
economies take part in 

 Flooding and renumeration around this are letting down those with rural land. 

 Other landowners need to be considered as part of this review. 
 
Officers responded 

 The response will be passed onto colleagues in the NFU for comment. 

 

Page 94

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

 

 

 There is a risk in transitioning over to new system, especially when farmers are 
at the bottom of the economic system. 

 Cross boarder working needs to be raised as an issue 

 Extreme Weather conditions will be raised with minister as a growing issues. 
 
Decision  
 
Members agreed the engagement strategy. 

 

5  Freeports consultation report 
 
Daniel Gardiner outlined the Government’s objectives for freeports, the policy proposals 
captured in the freeports consultation, and the proposed options for identifying freeport 
locations. Daniel Gardiner invited members to comment on the consultation and 
feedback received will be used to inform the LGA’s consultation response. 
 
Members made the following comments: 

 The location of freeports relative to other transport hubs will be important 

 How will the freeport providers be held to account, who do they answer to? 

 The environmental impact of increased traffic needs to be considered. 
 
Officers responded 

 The infrastructure around the freeports will be important for transport and 
businesses. 

 Members should ensure they continue to feed back their concerns. 

 The final response will be cleared by lead members before the response is 
submitted in late June. 

 
Decision 
 
Members noted the work that has been done around the Freeports consultation. 
 

 

6  District and County Council Collaboration 
 
Phil Swann from Shared Intelligence gave a presentation on the interim findings of the 
Board-commissioned research into good practice examples of collaboration between 
district and county councils. 
 
Members made the following comments 

 Trust between councils is important when considering a basis for new 
collaboration. 

 The work that Shared Intelligence has been doing on this research has been 
good and could have far reaching implications for local government. 

 
Phil Swann responded: 

 Relationships between councils works well where ground work has been done 
on building good favour between all the parties. 

 
Decision  
 
Members noted the work on District and county council collaboration 
 
Officers responded 

 The final report will be brought to the June board for clearance.  

 

Page 95

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

7  Rural Digital Connectivity 
 
Daniel Shamplin-Hall provided members with an update on the national 
digital connectivity policy context and proposes a set of actions for the 
Board to pursue over the remaining political cycle. 
 
Members made the following comments 

 We need to be clear that any future plans need to start with those 
areas that already with poor digital connection 

 The local member needs to be consulted when new connectivity 
infrastructure is planned. 

 When digital connectivity is said to be improving across the county, 
rural communities are often ignored. 

 The mobile phone providers need to be held to account further for 
poor service and not rolling out better Connectivity. 

 
Officers responded 

 These comments will be taken forward Ofcom in further meetings. 

 We will be inviting Building Digital UK back to a future board. 
 
Decision  
 
Members approved the new Ofcom Chief Executive being invited to a 
future board meeting. 
 

 

18   Minutes of the last meeting 
 
Members agreed to the notes of the previous People & Places Board that 
took place on Tuesday 17 March 2020. 

 

 
 

Page 96

Agenda Item 6



Document is Restricted

Page 97

Agenda Item 7





Document is Restricted

Page 107

Agenda Item 8





Document is Restricted

Page 117

Agenda Item 9




	Agenda
	3 Subnational Bodies
	4 County/District Collaboration
	5 Past the Peak
	5a Exploring and forecasting the economic impact of COVID19 on NUTS2 regions in England and Wales
	6 Note of last People & Places Board meeting
	7 Employment and skills recovery
	8 People and Places Board Update Paper
	9 End of year report

